
 

 
 
Notice of meeting of  
 

Health Scrutiny Committee 
 
To: Councillors Fraser (Chair), Alexander, Ayre (Vice-Chair), 

Douglas, Morley, Sunderland and Wiseman 
 

Date: Monday, 5 January 2009 
 

Time: 5.30 pm 
 

Venue: The Guildhall, York 
 

 
A G E N D A 

 
 
1. Declarations of Interest   (Pages 3 - 4) 
 At this point Members are asked to declare any personal or 

prejudicial interests they may have in the business on this agenda. 
A list of general personal interests previously declared are attached. 
 

2. Minutes   (Pages 5 - 10) 
 To approve and sign the minutes of the last meeting of the 

Committee held on 3 November 2008. 
 

3. Public Participation    
 At this point in the meeting members of the public who have 

registered their wish to speak regarding an item on the agenda or 
an issue within the Committee’s remit can do so. Anyone who 
wishes to register or requires further information is requested to 
contact the Democracy Officer on the contact details listed at the 
foot of this agenda. The deadline for registering is Friday 2 January 
2009 at 5.00pm. 
 

4. Annual Health Check 2008/2009   (Pages 11 - 86) 
 This report asks Members of the Committee how they wish to 

respond to the Healthcare Commission’s request for comments on 
the Annual Health Check 2008/2009. 
 
 



 

5. Update on Dental Services   (Pages 87 - 96) 
 This report provides Members with an update on the provision of 

NHS dental services in York and presents a new style reporting 
template from the Primary Care Trust (PCT).  
 

6. Feasibility Report - Access to Outreach 
Workers   

(Pages 97 - 106) 

 This report asks Members to consider a scrutiny topic registered by 
Councillor Alexander to scrutinise the availability, funding and 
uniform distribution of access to outreach workers. 
 

7. Health Scrutiny Networking   (Pages 107 - 110) 
 This report informs Members of the Committee about recent events 

attended by both Members and Officers outside the formal meeting 
cycle of the Health Scrutiny Committee. 
 

8. Urgent Business    
 Any other business which the Chair considers urgent under the  

Local Government Act 1972 
 
 
[A copy of the Health Scrutiny Committee’s work plan for 2008/09 is 
attached for information] 
 
 

Democracy Officer:  
 
Name: Jill Pickering 
Contact details: 

• Telephone – (01904) 552061 

• E-mail – jill.pickering@york.gov.uk 
 
 

For more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democracy Officer responsible for servicing this meeting  
 

• Registering to speak 

• Business of the meeting 

• Any special arrangements 

• Copies of reports 
Contact details are set out above 



About City of York Council Meetings 
 

Would you like to speak at this meeting? 
If you would, you will need to: 

• register by contacting the Democracy Officer (whose name and contact 
details can be found on the agenda for the meeting) no later than 5.00 
pm on the last working day before the meeting; 

• ensure that what you want to say speak relates to an item of business on 
the agenda or an issue which the committee has power to consider (speak 
to the Democracy Officer for advice on this); 

• find out about the rules for public speaking from the Democracy Officer. 
A leaflet on public participation is available on the Council’s website or 
from Democratic Services by telephoning York (01904) 551088 
 
Further information about what’s being discussed at this meeting 
All the reports which Members will be considering are available for viewing 
online on the Council’s website.  Alternatively, copies of individual reports or the 
full agenda are available from Democratic Services.  Contact the Democracy 
Officer whose name and contact details are given on the agenda for the 
meeting. Please note a small charge may be made for full copies of the 
agenda requested to cover administration costs. 
 
Access Arrangements 
We will make every effort to make the meeting accessible to you.  The meeting 
will usually be held in a wheelchair accessible venue with an induction hearing 
loop.  We can provide the agenda or reports in large print, electronically 
(computer disk or by email), in Braille or on audio tape.  Some formats will take 
longer than others so please give as much notice as possible (at least 48 hours 
for Braille or audio tape).   
 
If you have any further access requirements such as parking close-by or a sign 
language interpreter then please let us know.  Contact the Democracy Officer 
whose name and contact details are given on the order of business for the 
meeting. 
 
Every effort will also be made to make information available in another 
language, either by providing translated information or an interpreter providing 
sufficient advance notice is given.  Telephone York (01904) 551550 for this 
service. 

 

Agenda AnnexPage 1



 
Holding the Executive to Account 
The majority of councillors are not appointed to the Executive (38 out of 47).  
Any 3 non-Executive councillors can ‘call-in’ an item of business from a 
published Executive (or Executive Member Advisory Panel (EMAP)) agenda. 
The Executive will still discuss the ‘called in’ business on the published date 
and will set out its views for consideration by a specially convened Scrutiny 
Management Committee (SMC).  That SMC meeting will then make its 
recommendations to the next scheduled Executive meeting in the following 
week, where a final decision on the ‘called-in’ business will be made.  
 
Scrutiny Committees 
The purpose of all scrutiny and ad-hoc scrutiny committees appointed by the 
Council is to:  

• Monitor the performance and effectiveness of services; 

• Review existing policies and assist in the development of new ones, as 
necessary; and 

• Monitor best value continuous service improvement plans 
 

Who Gets Agenda and Reports for our Meetings?  

• Councillors get copies of all agenda and reports for the committees to 
which they are appointed by the Council; 

• Relevant Council Officers get copies of relevant agenda and reports for 
the committees which they report to;  

• Public libraries get copies of all public agenda/reports.  
 

Page 2



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
 
 

Agenda item I: Declarations of interest. 
 
Please state any amendments you have to your declarations of interest: 
 
 
Councillor Fraser  Governor of York Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

and as a member of the retired section of Unison; 
 
Councillor Wiseman  Governor of York Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 
  
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 

Agenda Item 1Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



City of York Council Committee Minutes

MEETING HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE 3 NOVEMBER 2008 

PRESENT COUNCILLORS FRASER (CHAIR), ALEXANDER, 
AYRE (VICE-CHAIR), DOUGLAS (JOINED THE MEETING AT 

5.40PM), MORLEY, SUNDERLAND AND WISEMAN 

IN ATTENDANCE JOHN YATES – OLDER PEOPLE’S ASSEMBLY 
JACK ARCHER – OLDER PEOPLE’S ASSEMBLY 
ANN HARDY – ALZHEIMERS SOCIETY 
DI KEAL – ALZHEIMERS SOCIETY 
SUE BECKETT - YORK FOUNDATION TRUST 
GRAHAM PURDY – NORTH YORKSHIRE & YORK 
PRIMARY CARE TRUST (NYYPCT) 
ANNIE THOMPSON – LINKS CO-ORDINATOR 
RACHEL JOHNS –  YORK HEALTHY CITY BOARD 
SALLY HUTCHINSON – AGE CONCERN 
CLLR MOORE - CYC 
BILL HODSON – CYC 
ZOE BURNS - CYC   

24. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

Members were invited to declare at this point in the meeting any personal 
or prejudicial interests they might have in the business on the agenda. 

The following interests were declared further to the standing personal, non-
prejudicial interests declared at previous meetings and circulated with the 
agenda. 

Cllrs Fraser and Wiseman declared a personal non-prejudicial interest in 
relation to Agenda item 4 (Healthy City Board – Progress Update) as 
members of the York Healthy City Board. 

Cllr Morley declared a personal non-prejudicial interest in relation to 
Agenda item 5 (Dementia Review – Final Draft Report) as he had the 
power of attorney for a resident who used the befriending service offered 
by Age Concern.  

25. MINUTES  

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the last meeting of the Committee 
held on 6 October 2008 be approved and signed by 
the Chair as a correct record. 

26. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  

It was reported that there had been two registrations to speak at the 
meeting, under the Council’s Public Participation Scheme. 

Agenda Item 2Page 5



The first was from Jack Archer on behalf of the Older People’s Assembly 
who congratulated Members and Officers on their well written and 
researched final draft report on the Dementia Review. He stated that some 
disturbing evidence had been heard and that comments of relatives and 
carers had differed from that of Hospital staff but he hoped that the 
Committee would follow through their recommendations and request a 
progress report in six months time. He asked that the request for an update 
report be included as an additional recommendation in the final report. 

The second was from Di Keal on behalf of the Alzheimer’s Society who 
also welcomed the report and the work undertaken by the Committee to 
gain evidence for their report. She questioned Members as to what follow 
up mechanism would be put in place to ensure that their recommendations 
were acted upon and scrutinised.  She reiterated that with dementia 
sufferers there was still a need to focus on the individual and that she was 
pleased to see that the report gave weight to the personal need and 
circumstances of the individual and that however inconvenient it was to the 
smooth running of the ward it recommended that carers should be fully 
involved in patients’ care. She pointed out that carers often did not have an 
understanding of the running of the hospital and that a leaflet outlining the 
roles and responsibilities of staff would be useful to encourage joint 
working. She thanked the Committee and all the partners for their 
involvement in the review.   

27. HEALTHY CITY BOARD - PROGRESS UPDATE  

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Associate Director of 
Public Health, the NYYPCT, the City of York Council and the Chair of the 
Healthy City Board, which provided an update on current Healthy City 
Board priorities in light of the newly launched Sustainable Community 
Strategy (SCS) and Local Area Agreement (LAA). 

It was reported that the Without Walls Executive Delivery Board, who 
oversaw performance monitoring and management of the SCS and LAS, 
focused on the following three types of measures: 

• ‘State of the City’ indicators  

• LAA2 indicators  and  

• Key actions and milestones 

As the Healthy City Board met on a quarterly basis it was reported that 
most of the activity to deliver the priorities took place outside of the formal 
meetings, led by the appropriate partners.  

Rachel Johns, as Chair of the Healthy City Board presented the report and 
explained the targets and strategic aims and programme from September 
2008 to July 2009. She pointed out that information was not yet available 
in relation to LAA Indicator 139 (People over 65 who say that they receive 
the information, assistance and support needed to exercise choice and 
control to live independently) as this was a yearly indicator and that this 
information would be available early next year. In relation to NI112 (under 
18 conception rate) she confirmed that overall rates had declined but that 
there was still some improvement to be made. She confirmed target for 

Page 6



Indicator NI156 (obesity among primary school age children) had been a 
challenging target to achieve and she reported that an implementation 
group for York was due to oversee partnership work to reverse the rising 
trend of obesity during which regular updates would be made. 

Members and Officers requested clarification of the terms “key high level 
longitudinal measures” referred to in the first bullet point in paragraph 7, 
and the initials ‘AAACM ratio” in the table in paragraph 9 of the report.  
  
RESOLVED:   (i)  That the contents of the report be noted. 

(ii) That further update reports be provided for the Health 
Scrutiny Committee in relation to any targets, which 
vary significantly from that which had been set. 1.

REASON: In order to remain up to date on the health and well-
being of the citizens of York. 

Action Required  
1. To pass on the Health Scrutiny Committee's request that 
update reports be provided to the Scrutiny Committee when 
targets vary significantly. The Scrutiny Officer to contact the 
Associate Director of Public Health to ensure that they are 
aware of this request.   GR  

28. DEMENTIA REVIEW - FINAL DRAFT REPORT  

Members considered the final draft report on the Dementia Review whose 
aim had been to look at the experience of older people with mental health 
problems (and their families/carers) who accessed general health services 
for secondary care in order to identify where improvements may be 
required. The report set out six draft recommendations for consideration. 

The Chair reported that the Committee had also considered the addition of 
a seventh recommendation concerning the befriending service. The Head 
of the Neighbourhood Pride Unit gave members further details of these 
services and confirmed that Age Concern had now written to all wards to 
inform them they would not be seeking funding from 2009/10 onwards from 
ward budgets. 

A representative of Age Concern, confirmed that although this service had 
not been found to work through the Ward Committee’s, befriending 
services would continue through Age Concern and the Alzheimer’s 
Society.  

Consideration was also given to the following documents circulated at the 
meeting: 

• ‘This is Me’ leaflet prepared by the Alzheimer’s Society which 
included information on individual patients; 

• Details of the befriending services supported by the Ward 
Committee process and the Ward Committee Local Improvement 
Schemes process; 

Page 7



• Sections from the NHS ‘Essence of Care’ document which detailed 
patient focused benchmarks for clinical governance. It was reported 
that this document formed part of healthcare training, which was 
then cascaded down to all staff. 

Members and partners made the following comments; 

• The experiences of patients were often different to those 
commented on by staff and that there may be a need to revise the 
preamble to paragraph 6 of the report to reflect this. 

• A member of the Hospital Trust confirmed that they welcomed the 
opportunity to take part in the review and that they now wished to 
take the Committee’s recommendations forward in partnership with 
the Local Authority and the PCT. 

• Concern was expressed that funding was not to continue for 
community outreach workers through  Ward Committees. 

Following further discussion the Chair thanked all the individuals and 
partners who had attended meetings and participated in the review for their 
support. 
  
RESOLVED:    (i) That the final draft report including the following 

recommendations as amended be agreed: 1. 

1. That the York Hospital Trust, in liaison with other appropriate 
service providers* be urged to develop and implement the 
Psychiatric Liaison Service (Annex A). The development of 
this programme to be a benchmark for training and support 
for staff working with dementia patients who access 
secondary care. 

*The Yorkshire Ambulance Service is to be included amongst 
the service providers, whilst acknowledging the unique nature 
of their role. 

REASON: To enable the development of the Psychiatric 
Liaison Service to progress. 

2. That all service providers be urged to review their 
arrangements for staff training in relation to recognising and 
working with those with an underlying condition of dementia. 
Any such review should include: 

o Promoting the use of Link nurses and investigating 
the possibility of nominating Link clinicians within 
defined staffing groups. 

o Investigation of the large gaps in training. 
o  The utilisation of the variety of sources for training 

provision including the Alzheimer’s Society and other 
voluntary sector organisations. 

o  Investigation into the pooling of resources between 
service providers. 

Page 8



REASON: To ensure that all staff are adequately trained 
to care for the needs of dementia patients 
accessing secondary care. 

3. That secondary care provider clinicians be urged to 
acknowledge the positive contributions that can be made by 
a patient’s carer to that patient’s ongoing programme of 
treatment (whilst recognising the issues surrounding patient 
confidentiality). Clinicians are also urged to take the following 
into consideration: 

o Where it is recognised that there may be an 
underlying mental health condition to provide written 
details of any medication and/or treatment plans to 
the patient. 

o The issue of carers’ information being logged on a 
patient’s notes to be encouraged as good practice 
and an ongoing dialogue between medical practices 
and the York Carer’s Forum to be maintained to 
allow for effective databases to be kept. 

REASON: To ensure that carers are involved as much as 
possible whilst still recognising the need for 
patient confidentiality. 

4.  
a. That all service providers be urged to work with the relevant 

voluntary organisations (Alzheimer’s Society, MIND, Age 
Concern, Older People’s Assembly etc) to develop new 
initiatives and to promote the awareness of dementia. This to 
include the preparation of an information leaflet aimed at 
families/carers detailing hospital procedures and contact 
staff. 

b. That commissioner and service providers discuss the ‘This is 
Me’ initiative further with the Alzheimer’s Society with a view 
to adopting it within their individual organisations. The 
Committee wished it to be known that they were very 
impressed with this particular initiative. 

REASON: To promote and increase dementia awareness 
and to encourage positive initiatives to be 
widely and effectively used.  

5. That York Hospitals Trust, where possible, be urged to adopt 
a flexible approach during a dementia patient’s stay in 
hospital, for example flexibility in hospital visiting hours and 
flexibility at mealtimes to allow carers to assist patients with 
eating. 

REASON: To involve carers during a patient’s stay in 
hospital to assist them in settling into an 
unfamiliar environment. 

Page 9



6. That all relevant parties be urged to resolve the ongoing 
issues surrounding the implementation of a universal ‘Shared 
Care Record System’ (Annex C refers). 

REASON: To resolve ongoing issues. 

7. That a six month progress report be compiled in conjunction 
with the Local Authority, PCT, York Hospital Trust and the 
Ambulance Trust.   

REASON:   To update the Scrutiny Committee on progress 
made in relation to their recommendations. 

(ii) That the preamble to paragraph 6 (Evidence received from 
carers) be amended to read “Information was received from 
several relatives and carers and although this evidence reflected 
both positive and negative experiences inevitably the report has 
had to focus on the areas where it was felt attention was 
required”.   

REASON:   To ensure that the final report gives a fair reflection of the 
evidence received. 

(iii) That the following documents be included as evidence in the 
final report: 

• Extract from the NHS ‘Essence of Care” document. 

• This is Me’ leaflet prepared by the Alzheimer’s Society. 

REASON: To support the Dementia Review final report.

Action Required  
1. To submit the report to the Scrutiny Management 
Committee for consideration.   GR  

Cllr S Fraser, Chair 
[The meeting started at 5.00 pm and finished at 6.25 pm]. 

Page 10



 

 

  

 

   

 

Health Scrutiny Committee 5th January 2009 

 
Report of the Head of Civic, Democratic and Legal Services 

 

Annual Health Check 2008/2009 

Summary 

1. This report asks Members of the Committee to consider how they wish to 
respond to the Healthcare Commission’s request for comments on the Annual 
Health Check 2008/2009. 

 Background 

2. The Healthcare Commission is an independent body, which is responsible for 
assessing and reporting on the performance of NHS and other health care 
organisations. 

3. The Annual Health Check is the system that the Healthcare Commission uses 
to assess the performance of all NHS trusts and a few other types of 
organisation in the NHS in England. In 2008/2009 it will be assessing: 

• Acute Trusts (including Foundation Trusts) 

• Ambulance Trusts 

• Mental Health Trusts (including Foundation Trusts) 

• Learning Disability Trusts 

• Primary Care Trusts (both as providers and commissioners of care) 

• Care Trusts 

• The Health Protection Agency 

• NHS Direct 

• NHS Blood & Transplant 

 

4. The Healthcare Commission has a statutory duty to publish an annual rating of 
performance for each organisation. This is done in two parts. The first is a 
score for quality of services. For most organisations, this is in two parts: an 
assessment of compliance with core standards set by the Department of 
Health, on whether requirements have been met, and an assessment based on 
indicators. The core standards set out the basic standards of healthcare that 
patients can expect to receive. They cover areas of real importance to patients 

Agenda Item 4Page 11



 

such as the safety and quality of care and the accessibility of services. The 
indicators are based on a set of ‘vital signs’ that are published by the 
Department of Health to provide a national framework of priority issues within 
which local services are to be planned and provided. 

5. In 2008/2009, a score on the quality of financial management, derived from 
work done by the Audit Commission for non-Foundation Trusts and Monitor for 
Foundation Trusts, will form the second part of the rating. This replaces the 
‘use of resources’ score in previous years. 

6. To demonstrate achievement of the core standards NHS Trust boards are 
required to make a self-assessment and a public declaration on the extent to 
which they consider that they have met the standards. These declarations can 
be supplemented by third party comments from partners in the community 
such as Local Authority Overview and Scrutiny Committees. These are 
considered to be important as they substantiate the self-assessments and 
ensure that different perspectives are included in the returns.  

7. The Annual Health Check will now separately assess Primary Care Trusts 
(PCTs) in their roles as commissioners and providers of services. A document 
entitled ‘The Annual Health Check 2008/09 – Assessing and Rating the NHS’ 
is attached at Annex A to this report.  This gives an overview of what the 
Annual Health Check is about. It also highlights changes that have been made 
to the Check since 2007/2008. Further information can be found on the 
Healthcare Commission website which will be updated as and when further 
information is available: 

http://www.healthcarecommission.org.uk 

8. A provisional timetable provided by the Healthcare Commission is attached at 
Annex B to this report. The Committee will need to be mindful of preparing their 
comments in good time for them to be included with the Trusts’ declarations. 
Under the current provisional timetable Trusts must submit their declarations to 
the Healthcare Commission between 15th and 30th April 2009. Representatives 
of the Trusts have been invited to this meeting to advise Members of their own 
timetables for producing their declarations.  

Consultation  

9. The Health Scrutiny Committee will need to undertake extensive consultation 
with the three Trusts in order to formulate their comments. 

10. Overview and Scrutiny Committees can provide important feedback to the 
Healthcare Commission on behalf of their communities and elected Members 
can help develop understanding as to how the Trusts are performing. Third 
party commentaries help the Commission to ensure that Trusts are putting 
patients and the public at the heart of everything they do. 

11. Patients and the public want to be involved in decisions about health and 
healthcare. Core Standard C17 requires that Trusts take the view of patients, 

Page 12



 

their carers and others into account in designing, planning, delivering and 
improving healthcare services. 

12. In 2008/2009 the Annual Health Check will gather the views and experiences 
of patients and the public through (amongst others): 

• The new Local Involvement Networks (LINks) 

• Commentaries received from Overview & Scrutiny Committees and the 
boards of governors of Foundation Trusts. 

Options  

13. Members should consider: 

• Whether they wish to contribute to the Annual Health Check of the three 
NHS Trusts  

• If so; then to consider delegating the preparation of their commentaries to 
the Chair and one other representative of the Committee in conjunction 
with the Scrutiny Officer. 

Analysis 
 

14. Evidence based information about how patients and the public are 
experiencing NHS services forms a valuable contribution to the Trusts’ self-
assessment. Overview and Scrutiny Committees are invited to comment 
because the Healthcare Commission recognises that information collected in 
Scrutiny reviews and through discussions between Health Scrutiny 
Committees and NHS Trusts can provide a patient and public experience that 
cannot be collected from anywhere else.     

Corporate Priorities 

15. This relates to the following Corporate Priority: 

‘Improve the health and lifestyles of the people who live in York, in particular 
among groups whose levels of health are the poorest.’ 

Implications 

16. There are no known Financial, Human Resources (HR), Equalities, Legal, 
Crime & Disorder, IT or other implications 

Risk Management 
 

17. In compliance with the Council’s risk management strategy there are no known 
risks associated with this report. 

Recommendations 

18. Members are asked to consider: 

Page 13



 

• Creating a commentary on the declarations of any of the NHS Trusts that 
they feel appropriate and to delegate this responsibility to the Chair and 
one other representative of the Committee in conjunction with the 
Scrutiny Officer. 

Reason: To enable the Health Scrutiny Committee to carry out their duty to 
promote the health needs of the people they represent. 

Contact Details 

 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 
Quentin Baker 
Head of Civic, Democratic & Legal Services 
Tel: 01904 551004 
 

Tracy Wallis 
Scrutiny Officer 
Scrutiny Services 
Tel: 01904 551714 

Report Approved � Date 18.12.2008 

 

Specialist Implications Officer(s)   
None 

 

All � Wards Affected:   

 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 

 

Background Papers: 
 
None 
 

Annexes 
 
Annex A   The Annual Health Check 2008/09 – Assessing and Rating the NHS 

Annex B  Provisional Timetable provided by the Healthcare Commission 

Page 14



Inspecting Informing Improving 

The annual health check 2008/09 
Assessing and rating the NHS 

June 2008 

Page 15



© June 2008 Commission for Healthcare Audit and Inspection 

This document may be reproduced in whole or in part in any 

format or medium for non-commercial purposes, provided that 

it is reproduced accurately and not used in a derogatory manner 

or in a misleading context. The source should be acknowledged, 

by showing the document title and © Commission for Healthcare 

Audit and Inspection 2008. 

ISBN:  978-1-84562-195-7 

Concordat gateway number: 128 

Page 16



The Healthcare Commission 

The Healthcare Commission works to promote improvements in the quality of healthcare 
and public health in England and Wales. 

In England, we assess and report on the performance of healthcare organisations in the 
NHS and independent sector, to ensure that they are providing a high standard of care. 
We also encourage them to continually improve their services and the way they work. 

In Wales, the Healthcare Commission’s role is more limited. It relates mainly to national 
reviews that include Wales and to our yearly report on the state of healthcare. In this 
work, we collaborate closely with the Healthcare Inspectorate Wales, which is responsible 
for the NHS and independent healthcare in Wales. 

What we do 

Inspecting: to inspect the quality and value for money of healthcare and public health. 

Informing: to equip patients with the best possible information about the provision 
of healthcare. 

Improving: to promote improvements in healthcare and public health. 

How we work 

• We work closely with patients, carers, and with the public to maintain our focus on 
improving their experiences of healthcare. 

• We promote the rights of everyone to have opportunities to improve their health and to 
receive good healthcare. 

• Our approach to assessing healthcare is based on the best available evidence and aims 
to encourage improvement. 

• We work in partnership to ensure a targeted and proportionate approach to audit and 
inspection. 

• We work locally to build relationships and intelligence about the quality of services 
throughout England. 

• We are independent and fair in our decision-making and report what we find impartially 
and honestly. 

• We are accountable for our actions and for what we achieve in relation to our costs. 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 1 

Page 17



Contents 

Foreword 3 

Introduction 5 

Section 1: What is the annual health check? 7 

Section 2: Key influences on the design of the annual health check in 2008/09 11 

Key themes from our consultation 15 

Section 3: Our proposals for the annual health check in 2008/09 20 

Section 4: Our assessments by sector 25 

Primary care trusts 25 

Our assessment of PCTs as commissioners 26 

Our assessment of PCTs as providers 30 

Acute trusts 30 

Mental health trusts 32 

Ambulance trusts 34 

Learning disability trusts and services 35 

The special organisations 35 

Section 5: Key aspects of our assessments 36 

Safety 36 

Clinical quality 38 

Reducing health inequalities and promoting health and wellbeing 41 

Children’s health and healthcare services 42 

Incorporating the views of patients and the public into our assessments 44 

Section 6: How the annual health check process works 45 

The assessment based on standards 45 

Information for trust boards 46 

Cross-checking the declarations 46 

Appendix1: Indicators 50 

Primary care trusts – commissioning indicators 50 

Acute and specialist trusts 52 

Ambulance trusts 54 

Mental health trusts 55 

Learning disability trusts 56 

Appendix 2: Our programme of work on services or aspects of care 57 

Comparative information 59 

Appendix 3: The programme of surveys of NHS staff and patients 60 

Appendix 4: Summary of our assessments by sector 61 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 2 

Page 18



Foreword 

The Healthcare Commission’s 2008/09 assessment cycle will be the fourth year in which 
we have carried out our annual health check of the NHS. This document sets out the 
design of our assessment framework for 2008/09 and what the process will involve. 

The significance of the annual health check is that it has established general standards 
across the NHS in areas of real importance to patients and the public. These include 
safety, cleanliness, the quality of the clinical care that patients receive, and whether they 
are treated with dignity and respect. When assessing NHS organisations, we 
systematically seek the views of patients and the public, and use all available information 
in reaching our judgements. If what patients tell us, or other information, suggests cause 
for concern, we visit the trusts in question. 

The annual health check system of assessment is recognised as having made a real 
difference for patients. For example, when the Office of Public Management carried out 
an independent survey of its impact, the key conclusions were: 

• Most trusts thought that the components of the annual health check have a positive 
impact on the care that patients receive: 93% thought this about their self-assessment 
against core standards; 89% about national targets and 81% about service reviews. 

• Sixty-seven per cent of trusts thought that the process had improved patients’ safety in 
their organisations. 

• Most trusts welcomed the process of self-assessment that their boards carry out as 
part of the annual health check process. It helps to reinforce the fact that the board is 
responsible for the effective delivery of services from the start. 

But while most trusts believed that the time and effort involved were reasonable, some 
were concerned that the process should not be too bureaucratic and that activities should 
not duplicate those of other regulators. 

As usual, we consulted widely on our proposals for assessing NHS trusts in 2008/09 and 
are grateful to all those who gave us their views. In response, we will: 

• Meet trusts’ requests for overall stability in the annual health check so that 
comparisons are valid over time. We will also continue to work on making our processes 
more efficient, and to work with other regulators to reduce duplication. 

• Ensure that what we measure will be tailored more closely to specific types of healthcare, 
and will focus on the outcomes that the best performing trusts aim to achieve. We have 
been encouraged by the fact that trusts have asked us to ensure that what we measure is 
stretching for them and represents good care for patients. So in the area of mental health, 
for example, we will be measuring outcomes such as support for users after they leave 
care. For ambulance trusts, we will be measuring the quality of their care – for example, 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 3 

Page 19



Foreword (Continued) 

in handling heart attacks and strokes – as well as their transport activity. In the case of 
primary care trusts, we will be separating their commissioning (purchasing) activities 
from their providing activities, to give a clearer focus to each of these widely differing 
activities. 

• Focus on assessing patient pathways and services, through our programme of reviews 
and benchmark indicators. 

• Ensure that our approach is aligned with the Government’s priorities, including the NHS 
Operating Framework and Lord Darzi’s review, Our NHS, Our Future. 

When developing our plans for 2008/09, we have had more discussion with clinical 
organisations than ever before, and particularly with the royal colleges covering doctors, 
nurses and other health professionals. We believe strongly that the annual health check 
must measure what makes sense to them as healthcare professionals. 

In October 2008, we will be reporting on the results of the annual health check for 2007/08 
on behalf of patients. We expect that more trusts will comply fully with the Government’s 
core standards, that more trusts will be rated “excellent” and “good”, and that many fewer 
will be rated “weak”. The public rightly expects trusts to take robust action to help ensure 
that they meet the standards and perform well for their patients. We will work with 
strategic health authorities and Monitor to ensure that this happens. 

The Care Quality Commission will come into being in April 2009. The new commission 
will publish the results of the 2008/09 annual health check, and will be required to impose 
registration requirements on all healthcare providers, including NHS trusts. We strongly 
believe that the starting point for these registration requirements must be the 
Government’s standards, compliance with which is currently measured in the annual 
health check. By building on the achievements of the NHS in improving performance to 
date, such an approach would help to ensure continuous improvement in the quality of 
care for patients. 

Professor Sir Ian Kennedy 
Chairman 

Anna Walker CB 
Chief Executive 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 4 

Page 20



Introduction 

We introduced the annual health check in 2005. Its key objectives are to: 

• Provide assurance that NHS healthcare services in England are meeting essential 
quality and safety standards for everyone. 

• Ensure that healthcare organisations always seek improvement and provide value 
for money. 

• Bring together information on the performance of healthcare services and make it 
available to patients, the public and NHS staff, including clinicians, so that they can 
make better informed decisions. 

The annual health check also fulfils our statutory duty to provide an annual rating of the 
performance of all NHS healthcare organisations in England. 

As in previous years, the development of the annual health check for 2008/09 has been 
informed by wide consultation and evaluation. At the end of 2007, we commissioned an 
external evaluation of the annual health check in 2006/07, which is our latest assessment 
for which results are available. The evaluation found that an overwhelming majority of 
trusts consider that the annual health check has a positive impact on patient care and 
safety, that their staff understood the process and that they considered it to be a good 
use of their time. There was still room for improvement though, and trusts feel that 
we can do more to reduce the overlap with other regulators. A significant minority also 
expressed concern over whether our process allowed for a true reflection of their overall 
performance. We considered these messages as we developed our plans for 2008/09. 

During the 12-week consultation on our plans for 2008/09, we received over 240 written 
responses from members of the public, voluntary groups, the NHS Confederation, the 
royal colleges and the Department of Health. We also held nearly 40 consultation events. 
The great majority of the feedback we received has been very supportive of our approach. 
In particular, feedback from groups representing clinicians has been very appreciative of 
the efforts we have made to engage them in developing our plans. We have analysed all 
the feedback received and have published it in a separate document on our website 
www.healthcarecommission.org.uk. Key aspects are also summarised later in this 
document. 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 5 

Page 21



Introduction (Continued) 

About this document 

Section 1 sets out the basic components of the annual health check. 

Section 2 describes the key influences on the final design for 2008/09, including feedback 
from our consultation exercise and the evaluation. 

Section 3 contains a table summarising what is staying the same this year and what 
will change. 

The last three sections set out the design of our assessment framework in more detail. 
Section 4 covers the design by healthcare sector while section 5 sets the important 
themes underpinning this year’s annual health check. Section 6 describes how the 
process works. 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 6 

Page 22



Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 7

The NHS organisations that we assess

The annual health check is the system that the Healthcare Commission uses to assess 
the performance of all NHS trusts and a few other types of organisation in the NHS in
England. In 2008/09 we will be assessing:

• Acute trusts (including foundation trusts)

• Ambulance trusts

• Mental health trusts (including foundation trusts)

• Learning disability trusts

• Primary care trusts (both as providers and commissioners of care)

• Care trusts

• The Health Protection Agency

• NHS Direct

• NHS Blood and Transplant.

What the rating of an organisation covers

We have a statutory duty to publish an annual rating of performance for each organisation.
We do this in two parts. The first is a score for quality of services. For most organisations,
this is in two parts: an assessment of compliance with core standards set by the Department
of Health, or whether requirements have been met, and an assessment based on indicators.
The core standards1 set out the basic standards of healthcare that patients can expect to
receive. They cover areas of real importance to patients such as the safety and quality of
care and the accessibility of services. The indicators are based on a set of ‘vital signs’ that
are published by the Department of Health to provide a national framework of priority issues
within which local services are to be planned and provided.

It is important to include both of these aspects in the quality of services score. An assessment
against the standards alone does not provide a sufficient measure of performance. Compliance
with the standards means that the trust has laid sound foundations for good service delivery
and provided a broad-based assurance of performance. Indicator-based assessments are more
focused on outcomes in key national priority areas where improvement can be measured 
over time. 

In 2008/09, a score on the quality of financial management, derived from work done by 
the Audit Commission for non-foundation trusts and Monitor for foundation trusts, will form
the second part of the rating. This replaces the “use of resources” score in previous years. 
It is designed to assess whether services commissioned and provided by trusts have sound
financial management in place, and is explained in more detail on page 28.

Section 1: What is the annual health check?

1. Standards for Better Health, Department of Health (2004)

Page 23



Section 1: What is the annual health check? (Continued) 

Figure 1 below sets out the basic structure of the annual health check, showing how 
it is wider than just the rating of an organisation, since it includes an assessment of 
services and topics. These assessments, however, may also raise issues about the 
performance of individual trusts themselves, which, while not directly feeding into their 
rating, are taken into account in their assessments of standards. 

Figure 1: Basic structure of the annual health check 

Rating of an organisation in two parts 

Assessment 
based on 
standards 

Quality of services score 

Assessment 
based on 
indicators 

Quality of 
financial 

management 

Assessment 
of services 
and topics 

Annual health check 

Assessing services and topics 

Both the quality of services score and the quality of financial management score are for 
organisations as a whole – such as hospital trusts. Patients, however, are particularly 
concerned about specific services, such as those for maternity, or services for people with 
cancer. Some services are delivered across the boundaries of different trusts, for example 
services for people who have had a stroke. Where this is the case, it is important to assess 
the whole experience of the care that the patient receives, rather than to focus on a single 
organisation. This will start with their first contact with their GP through to completion 
of their treatment, including hospital and after care and may include both health and 
social care. 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 8 

Page 24



By contrast, sometimes a risk or concern over one aspect of care is identified, such as the 
handling of confidential patient information, which warrants a specific investigation. 

It is therefore important that our annual health check should provide a picture of 
performance not only for organisations, but also for services and topics. This is helpful 
for patients and also enables healthcare organisations to identify the potential for 
improvement in the services they provide or commission. 

Services or topics are selected because: 

• They are important areas that affect a large group of patients 

• They affect a vulnerable group 

• A specific risk or concern has been identified 

• The review may stimulate the potential for improvement. 

The approach we use varies according to the nature of the service or topics and includes: 

• Using data that is already available about the performance of different trusts in a 
specific service area to identify a sample of trusts where we believe there may be cause 
for concern and follow up with an assessment visit. 

• Providing a structured set of benchmark indicators in a particular service area. These 
indicators will have been selected, in consultation with clinicians and service providers, 
as those that are important to focus on key areas of performance. 

• Using carefully researched performance frameworks that may require special data 
collection. This type of assessment results in a specific score for each relevant trust 
that we publish on our website. 

• Carrying out a more general assessment of a service area to identify actions needed for 
improvement at a national level. This will result in a published national report. 

Our assessments or reviews do not directly feed into the ratings for organisations but do so 
indirectly. If we find evidence of performance in a trust that casts doubt on its declaration 
of compliance with the standards, we may use this to qualify a trust’s overall assessment. 

A brief description of the scope of our work on services and topics is included at appendix 2. 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 9 

Page 25



Section 1: What is the annual health check? (Continued) 

Publishing our information 

Publishing the information that we collect is an important part of the annual health check. 
It ensures public accountability of NHS organisations. It is expected that the Care Quality 
Commission (the new regulator from April 2009) will take on the responsibility for 
publishing the results of the 2008/09 annual health check in the autumn of 2009. 

We aim to make all the information that we publish easily accessible on our website, 
www.healthcarecommission.org.uk. We have already made considerable progress in 
providing people with the information that we hold on their local healthcare organisations. 

We are also making progress in presenting all the information that we have about service 
areas or aspects of care together, so that it is easy for the public to find. We have recently 
done this for maternity services. 

10 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 

Page 26



Section 2: Key influences on the design of the 
annual health check in 2008/09 

We have, wherever possible, tried to maintain stability within our assessments and the 
structure of the annual health check has stayed broadly the same since its first year. 
This enables us to track progress over time and minimises the impact that changes to 
our system have on the service. As in previous years however, we have responded to 
developments in the context in which healthcare services operate and to the comments 
and feedback we received during our consultation programme. The major influences on 
our design are set out below. 

Assessing progress against the priorities for improvements in the NHS 

Each year, the Department of Health publishes an operating framework for the NHS that 
sets out the parameters within which local NHS organisations are to deliver better services 
to patients. The 2008/09 operating framework for the NHS, published in December 2007, 
focuses on the year ahead within the context of the three year comprehensive spending 
review settlement and the interim report from Lord Darzi. Our annual health check in 
2008/09 encourages improvement in the performance of trusts in line with this. The key 
themes are reflected both in the operating framework and the annual health check and 
include: 

• Improving cleanliness and reducing healthcare associated infections. 

• Improving access through achieving 18-week referral to treatment, and better access 
to GP and primary care services. 

• Keeping people well, improving overall health and reducing health inequalities. 

• Ensuring we encourage improvement in the experience of patients, staff satisfaction 
and engagement. 

• Preparing to respond in a state of emergency. 

As part of the operating framework, the Department of Health has published a list of 
indicators or ‘vital signs’. These enable local primary care trusts (PCTs), working with 
local partners, to plan healthcare around the key priority areas, while allowing them 
greater freedom to exercise local judgement. Consistent with this, the annual health 
check will also use indicators from the vital signs to rate PCTs. We have reflected the 
move to more locally set priorities by using local plans to decide on the level of 
performance where appropriate. We have also selected the indicator sets for trusts 
that provide services so that they are compatible with the vital signs. These are set out 
(in appendix 1) under four headings: health and wellbeing, safety, clinical effectiveness 
and patient focus. This will help patients, clinicians and trusts to understand how the 
assessments cover these key aspects of healthcare. 

Ensuring that care is fair, personalised, effective, safe and locally accountable 

In 2007 the Government asked Professor Lord Darzi, a leading clinician and a Government 
minister, to carry out a review of the NHS. His interim report, Our NHS, Our Future was 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 11 

Page 27



Section 2: Key influences on the design of the annual health check in 2008/09 (Continued) 

published in October 2007 and outlined a vision for a NHS that is fair, personalised, 
effective, safe and locally accountable. Many aspects of the annual health check already 
reflect this vision. Lord Darzi, though, also envisaged a more active role for clinicians 
and patients in designing the way care is delivered, recognising how important this is in 
driving improvement. We have always sought to ensure that our annual health check must 
measure what matters to patients. We have fed their views into our assessments, through 
surveys and comments received from representative groups, and we intend to increase 
the impact of the views of patients still further in 2008/09. 

We have also had an extensive programme of consultation with clinicians in designing our 
plans for this year’s annual health check. As a result, we are increasing the number of 
indicators of clinical quality in the rated part of our assessments. We are also working 
with clinicians to develop other indicators for benchmarking to feed into our assessments 
of risk to the delivery of good outcomes for patients. 

A new regulatory framework for health and adult social care 

At the same time as the Government has been publishing new plans for the NHS, it has 
also been developing plans to reform the regulation of health and adult social care. 
Following a period of consultation, it published its conclusions in October 2007. A new 
regulator, the Care Quality Commission, will replace the Commission for Social Care 
Inspection (CSCI), the Mental Health Act Commission (MHAC) and the Healthcare 
Commission in April 20092. 

In 2009/10, the Care Quality Commission will continue to register adult social care and 
independent healthcare services in the same way as currently happens. However, the 
Government plans a new registration system, which will also require NHS providers to 
register in respect of the healthcare services they provide. This new registration system 
will be phased in over the period April 2009 to April 2010. It will build on current 
registration and inspection systems that apply to social care and independent healthcare 
sectors and the core standard component of the annual health check in the NHS. We 
expect that assessments of providers under both these current systems in 2008/09 will 
be taken into account when they transfer into the new system of regulation. 

Our assessment of PCTs in 2008/09 will take these plans into account. PCTs currently 
have two functions: as commissioners (purchasers) of care and as providers (see figure 2). 
Under the new legislative framework, they are expected to be treated differently – the 
provider services will be subject to registration and assessment; the commissioning 
activities will only be assessed. The annual health check will reflect this by providing 
separate assessments on the provider and commissioning functions of PCTs. 

2. Subject to parliamentary approval. 

12 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 

Page 28



As we expect that the current assessment of standards will be taken into account during 
the transfer of existing healthcare providers to the new system of regulation, it is 
important for patients that trusts meet the standards in full during 2008/09. We intend 
therefore to follow up with trusts that declare that they do not meet standards or that we 
assess as “weak” in 2007/08. We will also focus our inspections on themes and standards 
that we believe to be at greatest risk of non-compliance. 

Figure 2: PCTs as providers and commissioners 

The majority of PCTs provide services to their local communities. For example… 

...nurses visit 
house bound 
patients in 
their homes. 

...health visitors 
support new 
parents and 
have wider 
roles in health 
promotion and 
protection. 

PCTs as providers 

PCTs are also responsible for planning and purchasing (commissioning) care from 
GP practices, dentists, hospitals, etc, on behalf of their local communities, following 
the planning/commissioning cycle shown below. 

PCTs as commissioners 

Shape structure 
of supply 

Review current 
service provision 

Decide priorities 

Specify services 

Access needs 

Clinical decision making 

Manage demand and ensure 
appropriate access to care 

Manage performance (quality, 
performance, outcomes) 

Patient and 
public 

involvement 
Clinical 

engagement 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 13 

Page 29



Section 2: Key influences on the design of the annual health check in 2008/09 (Continued) 

Clearly, throughout 2008/09, we will continue to work closely with CSCI and MHAC as the 
role of the new regulator becomes clearer. We have already been working on some joint 
ventures. In 2008/09 this will result in the joint development of an assessment of the 
commissioning of services for people with learning disabilities. We are also developing 
a joint assessment for the small number of care trusts that provide or commission both 
health and social care services. While both these initiatives have largely involved the 
Healthcare Commission and CSCI, MHAC will also be involved in mental health services, 
including consideration of services for people detained under the Mental Health Act. 

Improving the commissioning of healthcare to meet local needs 

Another key contextual factor for the annual health check in 2008/09 aimed at driving 
improvement in the commissioning and planning of healthcare is the World Class 
Commissioning programme. This initiative by the Department of Health identifies the key 
competences needed and best practice in planning and purchasing care on behalf of 
patients, and sets out a compliance framework against which PCTs will be assessed by 
strategic health authorities as performance managers. 

The Healthcare Commission has a statutory responsibility to assess PCTs both in their 
role as providers of services and as commissioners of services. This is important in 
providing independent public accountability. In designing our assessment, we have 
aimed to ensure that: 

• We do not extend the scope of our current assessment. 

• There is compatibility and consistency between our assessment and the performance 
management framework used by strategic health authorities, so that the processes 
complement rather than duplicate each other. 

• Where there is overlap, there is consistency, so that evidence from one assessment 
can be used for the other. 

Comprehensive area assessments 

As well as bringing together the regulators for health and social care into one organisation, 
the Government also has ambitious plans to bring together the assessments from a number 
of regulatory bodies to deliver comprehensive area assessments (CAAs). The CAAs will 
cover a broad range of activities provided at a local level, such as education and housing 
provision as well as health. They are designed to look at how well local organisations 
(including PCTs and NHS trusts) are working together in partnership to deliver the local 
outcomes people want. Seven regulatory bodies will be involved and will put forward their 
joint proposals for how this will work later in the summer. The first round of reports from 
these assessments is due in the autumn of 2009. The information from the 2008/09 annual 
health check for PCTs will make an important contribution to the CAA judgement process. 

14 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/0914 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09

Page 30



Key themes from our consultation 

The key message from our consultation in 2008/09 was of support – both in maintaining 
the stability of our assessments and, where we have had to make changes, in the direction 
of travel. However, we have responded where we can to the other main comments made. 

Patients want 
us to focus more 
on outcomes and 
to take their 
views more into 
account in our 
assessments 

There is strong support from groups representing patients and the 
public for the emphasis on safety and clinical effectiveness in our 
assessments. They also support our drive to encourage trusts to 
achieve full compliance with the Government’s standards. However, 
they are keen, that our assessments put more emphasis on the 
measurement of outcomes. We agree that this is important and 
will provide more information to allow patients and the public to 
compare performance between trusts. Our visits to trusts will 
increasingly look at both the processes underpinning care delivery 
and its outcomes. We also agree that the views of patients must 
have an increasing impact in our assessments. During 2008/09, we 
will continue to engage directly with groups representing patients to 
obtain feedback on the performance of local trusts. Where there is 
cause for concern, we will follow this up. 

Tailoring our 
assessments for 
different types of 
healthcare 

In developing our plans for 2008/09 we have made considerable 
effort to engage with patient groups, trusts and clinicians. We have 
done this to ensure that the indicators we are using to rate the 
different trust types are tailored to each sector and ensure that our 
assessment is focused on safety and clinical effectiveness. This 
approach has been strongly welcomed. 

We will continue to work with the Academy of Medical Royal 
Colleges, individual colleges, nursing and other clinical bodies to 
make better use of their information. For example, in relation to 
service accreditation we will use it within our systems of ongoing 
assurance on standards throughout the year and in our risk 
assessments at the end of the year. We are already planning to 
use this approach with information from the cancer peer review. 

People also strongly supported the proposed split in the assessment 
of PCTs to provide a separate assessment of their commissioning and 
providing functions. They said that this provides a better ‘fit’ between 
our assessment system and the way healthcare is organised. 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 15Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 15

Page 31



16 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/0916 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/0916 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09

Section 2: Key influences on the design of the annual health check in 2008/09 (Continued)

There was a

great deal of

support for the

topics and

services chosen

for review, but

others were

suggested

In our consultation document we set out our proposal to report
separately on the performance of PCTs as providers of services 
and their performance as commissioners (purchasers). There was
overwhelming support for this proposal. However, some people
responding were concerned that in providing a separate assessment
of commissioning, we should take account of the considerable range
of other work being carried out in this area, and in particular the
World Class Commissioning compliance framework.

The Healthcare Commission has a statutory obligation to undertake
a performance assessment of PCTs, taking into account the
Government’s standards. These apply equally to the providing and
commissioning functions of PCTs and have therefore always been
part of our assessment. Our assessment this year will not be
extended, but will simply clarify the focus of the assessment of the
two different functions. In developing the criteria for our assessment
of PCTs, however, we will work closely with colleagues in the
Department of Health and the Audit Commission to ensure that our
processes complement rather than duplicate each other. We will 
aim to use World Class Commissioning performance management
information in our assessment where we can.

Patient groups and trusts were very supportive of our in-depth work
on services and topics since it provides a powerful incentive for
improvement. They were also supportive of the topics chosen, but

other topics were also suggested. Specialised commissioning is an
important area and will be picked up in our assessment of
commissioning. This year’s revision of the criteria for PCTs will
include a specific reference to this important role. We will also
consider it as a topic for more in-depth review in our future plans. 

Other topics suggested were:

• the hygiene code (possibly drawing upon our programme of visits
to trusts) 

• dentistry

• dementia

• cancer (drawing upon the cancer reform strategy).

We appreciate this feedback and will also consider these topics in
our future plans.

Ensuring that 

the assessment

of PCTs as

commissioners

and the World

Class

Commissioning

framework are

complementary

Page 32



Trusts want 
earlier guidance 
on the detail of 
our plans 

Trusts tell us that they want the detail of our plans earlier in the 
year. In 2007/08 we published the detailed constructions of the 
indicators used for the existing and new national targets before the 
beginning of the assessment year. This year, many of the targets no 
longer apply or have evolved to form new commitments, so we have 
developed new sets of indicators, based on the vital signs published 
by the Department of Health. These have already been published 
on our website, together with the sources of the data and, where 
possible, the constructions. Not all the detailed constructions are 
available at the moment. For some we will need to work with other 
bodies to ensure consistency. We aim to publish full constructions 
of all the indicators in the autumn. 

We will, however, publish our revised criteria underpinning our 
assessment on the standards earlier. For 2007/08, the criteria were 
revised to make them simpler and more outcome focused. They were 
also tailored to the different types of service. We are not expecting 
further major changes for acute, mental health or ambulance trusts. 
There will be some changes for PCTs, reflecting the separation of the 
provider and commissioner functions, but we are expecting to be able 
to publish all the criteria later in the summer. 

Making better 
use of the 
findings of others 
to streamline 
regulation 

Trusts want us to work closely with other regulators to minimise 
the overlap in our assessments and so avoid any unnecessary 
duplication. We have been working with the NHS Litigation Authority 
(NHSLA), and in 2007/08 were able to use the results of their 
assessments as evidence of compliance with several elements of 
the standards for acute trusts. 

In 2008/09, as the NHSLA extends its risk assessments for mental 
health and ambulance trusts, we will ensure that our criteria for 
these trusts are also amended. This will enable us to use the results 
of assessments by the NHSLA as evidence of assurance of 
compliance with the relevant elements of the standards. 

We are also working closely with the Audit Commission to make 
better use of each other’s information. The Audit Commission has 
changed its “use of resources” assessment for PCTs in line with the 
other audited bodies within the comprehensive area assessment. 
This has given us the opportunity to review how we use their 
assessment within our own standards-based assessment. 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 17HealthcHealthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 17are Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 17

Page 33



Making better 
use of the 
findings of others 
to streamline 
regulation 
(continued) 

The new assessment will have three themes. We will use only 
the first, “managing finance”, to provide the quality of financial 
management score for PCTs. The other two themes will both be 
used to assess risk for other elements within the standards. 
They include areas such as corporate governance, use of data, 
data quality and asset management, which relate to auditors’ 
statutory duties to satisfy themselves that PCTs have proper 
arrangements for securing economy, effectiveness and efficiency. 

The Audit Commission has separately consulted on the new use 
of resources framework for PCTs and other bodies. The 2008/09 
key lines of enquiry have been finalised following consultation 
and issued. 

Our final plans have taken into account both the changing context in which we operate 
and feedback from our evaluation and consultation. 

Section 2: Key influences on the design of the annual health check in 2008/09 (Continued) 

18 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/0918 Healthcare Commission1818 The annual health check in 2008/09Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09

Page 34



Our overall aims for our health check in 2008/09 have been to: 

• Remain focused on the issues that matter most to patients and the public, 
especially safety and the quality and clinical effectiveness of services. 

• Take the experience of patients more into account in our assessments, both in the 
annual health check and when following up throughout the year. 

• Engage clinicians more and more in the design of assessments. 

• Increase our efforts in investigating and following up reasons for non-compliance 
with the Government’s standards. 

• Tailor our assessment further to each of the different healthcare sectors and types 
of service. 

• Remain cost-effective and risk-based in our approach and to rely where we can on 
the assessments of other regulators. 

Key themes from our consultation: Patients want us to focus 
more on outcomes and to take their views more into account in 

our assessments. 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 19Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09HealthcHealthc 19are Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 19are Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 19

Page 35



Section 3: Our proposals for the annual health 
check in 2008/09 

At a glance – what will stay the same and what will change 

Standards-based assessment 

What will stay the same 

The boards of all trusts will be 
required to make a declaration of 
compliance of their trusts with the 
core standards. 

We will issue a small set of benchmark 
indicators for provider trusts in 
January 2009, covering safety and 
clinical effectiveness. We expect that 
trust boards will use this data together 
with local information when considering 
their compliance with the standards. 

What will change 

There will be limited further change to 
the criteria for acute, ambulance and 
mental health trusts. 

We will ask the boards of primary care 
trusts to make a separate declaration 
on their compliance with the standards 
for their commissioning function and 
their function as a provider of services 
(within a single declaration form). We 
expect to make some changes to the 
criteria, reflecting this separation and 
to publish these later in the summer. 

We will visit all acute trusts to review 
the effectiveness of their 
arrangements to reduce the incidence 
of healthcare associated infections. 

We will also visit some non-acute 
trusts to check on compliance with the 
hygiene code. 

20 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 

Page 36



Monitoring performance through the year 

What will stay the same 

We will continue to use available 
national information and the views of 
patients and the public throughout the 
year to identify and, if appropriate, 
pursue areas of potential concern. 

Our work on services and topics will 
focus on areas where compliance on 
standards is at risk. 

What will change 

We will follow up trusts that do not 
meet the standards. Where trusts score 
“weak” on their quality of services 
score and where trusts declare that 
they do not meet a standard, we will 
work with the Department of Health, 
strategic health authorities and Monitor 
to encourage the development of action 
plans and discuss progress on a 
regular basis. 

We will follow up our reviews of 
children’s hospital services, the 
management of medicines and 
community mental health services. 

Assessments based on indicators 

What will stay the same 

Some of the existing and new national 
targets will remain – but will be used 
differently. 

What will change 

We have developed more tailored sets 
of indicators that will incorporate any 
targets that remain applicable and 
other national priorities. The indicators 
for primary care trusts (PCTs) are taken 
from the vital signs framework (except 
for the data quality on ethnic group). 
The indicators for provider trusts reflect 
the vital signs and the four themes: 
health and wellbeing, clinical quality, 
safety, and patient focus and access. 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 21 

Page 37



Section 3: Our proposals for the annual health check in 2008/09 (Continued) 

Assessments based on indicators (continued) 

What will stay the same What will change 

For the first time, we will also 
introduce rated indicators for trusts 
that provide services to patients with 
learning disabilities. 

We are also changing our approach to 
the way we ‘round’ up the performance 
data supplied by trusts. This will have 
the impact of making the thresholds for 
some indicators more difficult to reach. 
More information on this is included in 
appendix 1. 

All the indicators are also listed in 
appendix 1. 

Quality of financial management assessment 

What will stay the same 

As in previous years, we will use the 
Audit Commission’s “use of resources” 
assessment for non-foundation trusts 
and the financial risk ratings from 
Monitor for foundation trusts. This year 
however, it will be known as the quality 
of financial management score. 

What will change 

We will continue to use Audit 
Commission findings in our 
assessment of financial management 
for PCTs – but what we use will change. 
This is because the Audit Commission 
is changing its assessment of PCTs in 
line with other audited bodies within 
the comprehensive area assessment. 
Their new assessment will have only 
three themes. We have reviewed the 
content and have decided only to use 
the first – “Managing finance” as a 
directly scored assessment. We have 
therefore changed the name of this 
assessment for all trusts to the quality 
of financial management. 

22 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 

Page 38



Quality of financial management assessment (continued) 

What will stay the same What will change 

We value the work of the Audit 
Commission, and information from the 
remaining themes of their assessment 
will be used both in our assessment of 
risk and to reduce the questions we 
ask trusts for other elements within 
the standards. We believe that this 
will reduce overlap and the risk of 
penalising a PCT twice for the same 
issue in our assessments. 

Monitoring performance through the year: We will follow up 
our reviews of children’s hospital services, the management of 

medicines and community mental health services. 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 23 

Page 39



Section 3: Our proposals for the annual health check in 2008/09 (Continued) 

Assessments giving a broader picture of performance 

Our annual ratings are of organisations. Patients however, are particularly interested in how 
individual services perform. We therefore have a rolling programme of work designed to put 
a spotlight on important areas of concern for patients and the public. The assessments do 
not feed directly into the calculation of an organisation’s rating but may raise concerns that 
standards are not being met. We will use this information when considering trusts’ 
performance on the standards. 

We are planning two in-depth reviews on: 

• Commissioning services for people with learning difficulties (jointly with the 
Commission for Social Care Inspection). 

• Medicines management in primary care. 

Reports from these reviews are likely to be published in 2009. 

We will also follow up three previous service reviews to check on progress. In 2008/09 
this will apply to the reviews of children’s hospital services; medicines management 
(acute sector); and community mental health service reviews. We are also working with 
the National Audit Office on its review of end-of-life care. 

National studies are more general assessments of commissioning and service provision 
and are designed to promote improvement. We are planning four national studies: 

• Access to psychological therapies 

• Health inequalities 

• Patient and public involvement 

• Equality of access to services for disabled people. 

We will also develop sets of structured benchmarking indicators in two areas: 

• Children’s health and healthcare services 

• Stroke care and prevention. 

These will not be scored but will enable clinicians, trusts and the public to compare 
performance and identify areas for improvement. 

Appendix 2 sets out our reasons for choosing these topics. All have been chosen in line 
with the principles set out on page 9. 

24 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/0924 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09

Page 40



Section 4: Our assessments by sector 

Primary care trusts 

Our assessment of primary care trusts (PCTs) for the performance rating in 2008/09 will 
have a different structure from previous years. This will allow us to report separately on the 
performance of services that a PCT provides itself (such as community health services), 
and its role as a commissioner of health and healthcare services for its local community. 
The assessment of the PCT as a commissioner will have a strong focus on progress against 
the national priorities set out in the Department of Health’s vital signs indicators. 

Figure 3: Structure for the annual performance rating of PCTs 

Quality of services (commissioning) 

Assessment 
of standards 

(commissioning) 

Quality of 
financial 

management 

Assessment 
of standards 

(provider 
services) 

Annual performance rating 

Assessment 
of national 
priorities 

Assessment 
of existing 

commitments 

Note: PCTs that provide mental health or learning disability services will also have a score for the indicators 
that apply to these services, but this will not be aggregated with their score on the standards for their 
provider services. 

There are three important reasons for the change: 

• Commissioning (and contracting) and the direct provision of services are intrinsically 
different functions. Separate assessments will give local communities a much clearer 
picture of how their PCT is performing. 

• It reflects the operating framework for 2008/09 that requires PCTs to have a separate 
internal structure for their commissioning and contracting function to their functions 
as a provider of services. 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 25Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 25

Page 41



26 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09

• It is expected that, under the new regulator, providers of healthcare services will be
subject to registration and assessment. They will have to meet essential safety and quality
requirements to remain registered and then will be assessed on how well they are
performing above this level. PCTs that currently provide services are likely to be required
to register these services. It is also expected that the standards-based assessment,
carried out by the Healthcare Commission in 2008/09, will be taken into account when
providers transfer into the new regulatory system. The structure that we are proposing
(see figure 3 on previous page) will facilitate this transfer of the provider functions of 
PCTs, while at the same time providing an assessment of PCTs as commissioners.

Our assessment of PCTs as commissioners

Standards-based assessment

The trust boards of PCTs will, for the first time, make a declaration on their compliance 
with the Department of Health’s core standards for their commissioning and contracting
functions, which is separate from their function as providers of services. This will include
their responsibility for specialised commissioning groups. Some of the core standards are
particularly relevant to their commissioning function (see table 1).

Table 1: Eight core standards that are particularly relevant to PCTs as commissioners

Section 4: Our assessments by sector (Continued)

C5

C6

C7

C17

C18

C22

C23

C24

Take national guidance into account when planning and delivering care

Work with partners in planning and delivering the care of individuals

Have effective processes for governance, risk management, etc and
promote equality, uphold human resources, etc

Take views of patients and carers into account in planning and
delivering care (and demonstrate how you are doing this)

Ensure equitable access and offer choice

Work with partners to improve the health of the community and
narrow health inequalities

Ensure that disease prevention/health promotion programmes are in
place

Protect the public by having a planned, prepared and, where possible,
practiced response to incidents

Page 42



The trust boards of PCTs will, however, have to declare on their assurance of compliance 
with all the standards. In doing so, as in previous years, they will have to assess whether, 
as commissioners, they have taken reasonable steps (with regard to their independent 
contractors), and have appropriate mechanisms (with regard to their commissioned 
services) to ensure that the services supplied are compliant with the standards. 

We will provide separate criteria for the assessment of the commissioning function. 
We do not expect this to increase the scope of the assessment of PCTs overall, since our 
assessments have always covered the commissioning function. Rather, we expect the 
revised criteria (which we aim to publish later in the summer) to clarify how the 
assessment of standards applies to commissioning. 

World Class Commissioning 

Some feedback to our consultation asked us to ensure that our assessment complements 
the assurance framework being used for the World Class Commissioning (WCC) initiative. 
We continue to have a statutory duty to assess PCTs with regard to their commissioning 
function in 2008/09 and so we have been working with the Department of Health to ensure 
that the two systems complement each other and add value without duplication for PCTs. 
We will highlight areas where there is overlap so that processes for collecting evidence 
can be streamlined. 

We will also aim to use the assurance framework from WCC as part of our assessments 
of risk for 2008/09. This will help to ensure that our inspections are appropriately targeted 
and do not duplicate WCC. 

Assessment based on indicators 

We have developed a range of indicators designed to give a rounded measure of 
performance focusing on outcomes as well as standards (set out in appendix 1). These 
indicators will replace the existing and new national targets (although they include any 
targets that still apply). They are drawn from the vital signs indicators published by the 
Department of Health. The current proposed set is smaller than that used for the 2007/08 
assessment of targets and requires no special data collections. 

The indicators will be divided into two sets: 

Existing commitments: these are areas – such as waiting times in A&E, delayed transfers 
of care, crisis resolution services – which have been long-standing targets. The public 
expectation is that good levels of performance will at least be maintained. Similar to the 
current existing national targets, we envisage that primary care trusts that are classed as 
“not met” against these commitments will automatically be scored “weak” in their quality 
of services score. An indicator on data quality in ethnic group recording (not one of the vital 
signs) will also be included in this set. 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 27 

Page 43



Section 4: Our assessments by sector (Continued) 

National priorities: the second set of indicators, however, has been called an assessment 
of national priorities. They are mostly drawn from the second tier of the framework for the 
vital signs indicators which, while they remain national priorities, are designed not to be 
prescriptive but to allow flexibility in the level of improvement to be made according to 
local need. To allow for this, we will use local plans where appropriate to measure 
performance. 

All the indicators are set out in appendix 1. 

Benchmarking indicators 

In the operating framework for the NHS, the Department of Health set out its intention 
to ensure that performance against the vital signs is published on an annual basis. 
We outlined in our consultation document our proposal to publish all the indicators from 
the vital signs framework for the purpose of benchmarking. We are in discussions with 
the Department of Health on this approach and we will publish further information on 
our plans shortly. We believe that trust boards of PCTs would find this useful when 
considering their performance on the standards and when identifying local priorities. 

The information in the wider set of vital signs covers a range of important areas including 
patient choice of provider. Providing patients with choice is a priority area for the 
Government and it is important both to publish information about this and to follow up 
poor performers. 

Quality of financial management 

All PCTs will be assessed on quality of financial management (replacing the “use of 
resources” assessment from previous years). This will be based on the Audit Commission’s 
judgements as before. There will, however, be an important change to this assessment. 
This will enable the Audit Commission to use the same framework for its assessments of 
all the other bodies included within the comprehensive area assessment. 

The new assessment will have only three themes. We have reviewed the content of the 
themes and have decided only to use the first, “Managing finance”, for our quality of 
financial management assessment. We continue to value all of the Audit Commission’s 
assessment however, and wherever possible will use evidence from the remaining two 
themes (Governing the business and Managing resources which relate to auditors’ 
statutory responsibilities) for other aspects of our standards-based assessment. 
We believe this will reduce the risk of trusts being penalised twice for the same issue 
in the ratings. 

28 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 

Page 44



Work based on services and aspects of care 3 

We will carry out two in-depth reviews relevant to PCTs’ work: 

• The development of an assessment framework for the commissioning of learning 
disability services based on our recent audit on the provision of such services in 
conjunction with the Commission for Social Care Inspection. 

• A review of the safety of medicines being managed in primary care trusts, focusing on 
the interface between hospital and primary care following discharge. This will focus 
on the role of PCTs in assuring safety. 

Reports on these reviews will be published in 2009. 

As part of our work on health inequalities, we will also carry out a smaller national 
study on coronary heart disease (CHD) and the performance of primary care through the 
prescribing of statins and the provision of stop smoking services in relation to prevalence 
of CHD and life expectancy. 

GP practice level information 

The Government is consulting on how registration can be introduced for providers 
of primary care under the new regulator. Currently, PCTs are held to account for the 
standards of the services they commission from primary care providers. We have carried 
out some exploratory work on producing practice level comparative information using 
available information. It shows considerable variation between practices and that poor 
performance is associated with high levels of deprivation. In 2008/09, we will continue 
with some exploratory work on the value of this information to identify where good 
commissioning performance by PCTs can improve the performance of GPs. 

Comprehensive area assessments 

As set out on page 14, health and healthcare services provided by NHS organisations in 
partnership with councils are within the scope of the comprehensive area assessments 
(CAA), as well as within the scope of the annual health check for 2008/09. The assessment 
of PCTs as commissioners of services is the main aspect of the annual health check that 
is relevant to the CAA, though aspects of services provided by other NHS trusts may also 
be relevant. The benchmarking information on performance against all the vital signs will 
also provide an important input into looking at the risk to delivery of good outcomes for 
local communities. The first round of reports from the CAAs is planned for the autumn 
of 2009. 

3. Fuller descriptions for all these pieces of work are included in appendix 2. 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 29 

Page 45



Section 4: Our assessments by sector (Continued) 

Proposals by the seven inspectorates developing the CAA for how the assessments will 
work in 2009 will be made in a second joint consultation this summer. Underlying the 
proposals are requirements that the frameworks for assessing healthcare and the CAA 
must be aligned; and that the healthcare regulator’s contribution to the CAA must be 
contained within its existing budgets. 

The CAA is designed to identify issues at an area level. When the information collected about 
all sectors has been considered at area level, it is likely that issues involving healthcare will 
be identified in some areas that will need further enquiry by the inspectorates (including the 
possibility of inspection), and action to improve performance or future prospects for services 
by local strategic partnerships and their constituent members. 

Our assessment of PCTs as providers 

Standards-based assessment 

The trust boards of PCTs will also be required to make a declaration on the compliance 
with the standards of their provider services on the same form as their declaration of 
their compliance on the commissioning function. We do not expect the criteria for this 
assessment to be substantially different from the assessment in 2007/08. 

PCTs will also be asked to make a declaration on their standards of compliance with the 
hygiene code (with regard to their provider services). 

Indicators for services provided by primary care trusts 

For most PCTs there will be no rated indicators for their directly provided services. This is 
because there is little robust comparative data, and considerable variation in the services 
provided. However, PCTs that provide either mental health or learning disability services, 
or both, will have an assessment based on these indicators, but it will not be aggregated 
into a single score with the assessment based on standards. This will allow greater 
comparability across all PCTs on the standards for their directly provided services 
(although, of course, their standards-based assessment should take into account all their 
provided services). 

Acute trusts 

The structure of our assessment for acute trusts is broadly comparable to previous years 
(see figure 4). As a result of consultation and feedback however, we believe that the 
assessment will have a better sector fit and will be more outcome-focused. In particular, 
we have developed more clinical indicators to be used in the rated part of the assessment. 
On standards, we build on the changes made for 2007/08 to ensure that: our focus is on 
the main issues, trusts are meeting the objectives of the standards, and inspections within 
trusts focus more on outcomes and not just on processes. We have been engaging 

30 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 

Page 46



extensively with clinicians in developing the assessment. We will continue to work with 
them to ensure that accreditation data, produced by the royal colleges, can be used to 
feed into our risk assessment both at the end of the year and during the year. 

Figure 4: Structure of the rating for acute trusts 

Annual performance rating 

Quality of services 

Assessment 
of existing 

commitments 

Assessment 
of national 
priorities 

Assessment 
of standards 

Quality of 
financial 

management 

Assessment of standards 

There will be minimal change to the criteria used in 2007/08. 

We will, once more, provide trusts with small sets of benchmark indicators, covering 
safety and clinical effectiveness, which we expect boards to consider, alongside local 
information when making their declaration on compliance with the standards. 

Trusts will be asked to make a declaration on their compliance with the hygiene code. We 
have also been asked by the Secretary of State to visit all acute trusts to assess directly their 
compliance with aspects of the hygiene code. This will impact on their rating in 2008/09. 

Assessment based on indicators 

We have developed, in consultation with trusts, a set of indicators that we believe 
constitute a more rounded assessment of performance. They have been selected to 
be compatible with the vital signs indicators for PCTs. They cover four themes: 

• health and wellbeing 

• clinical effectiveness 

• safety 

• patient focus and access. 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 31 

Page 47



Section 4: Our assessments by sector (Continued) 

They will be divided into two sets: 

Existing commitments: the first set will be an assessment of existing commitments and, 
as with existing national targets in previous years, we envisage that trusts that classed as 
“not met” against these commitments will automatically be rated as “weak” for their 
quality of services score. 

National priorities: the indicators have been set to measure performance in key national 
priority areas. Some of these indicators are new for this year and have an improved focus 
on safety and clinical effectiveness. 

All the indicators are listed in appendix 1. Some of the indicators were included in the 
assessment of targets previously and have been marked with an asterisk in the lists. 

Quality of financial management 

All trusts will be assessed on their quality of financial management. This replaces the use 
of resources assessment used in previous years. As before, for foundation trusts, this will 
be based on the work of Monitor and for non-foundation trusts, the Audit Commission. 
There are not expected to be significant changes. 

Work based on services and aspects of care 4 

We will follow up the improvement review of children’s services to check on progress. 

Mental health trusts 

In previous years, the Government’s set of targets for the mental health sector was 
relatively limited. Consequently service users and carers, and NHS staff considered that 
the health check assessment, which reflected these targets, was rather narrow. This year 
we have consulted widely on the indicators that we are using for rating trusts in 2008/09 
and believe that they better reflect the issues service users and carers have told us are 
important and provide a more rounded assessment. We also believe they achieve a better 
balance between measuring processes and measuring outcomes for patients. 

Our intention to have a specific measure on social inclusion received a significant amount 
of support during the consultation period. We have, however, decided to defer the inclusion 
of this indicator because of the related work currently being undertaken by the Sainsbury 
Centre for Mental Health due to report later this year. We expect that this will yield some 
robust social inclusion measures that can be used in future assessments. 

4. Fuller descriptions for all these pieces of work are included in appendix 5. 

32 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 

Page 48



Figure 5: Structure of the rating for mental health trusts 

Annual performance rating 

Quality of services 

Assessment of 
national priorities 

Quality of financial 
management 

Assessment of 
standards 

Assessment of standards 

There will be minimal change to the criteria used in 2007/08. 

We will, as for the 2007/2008 annual health check, provide trusts with small sets of 
benchmark indicators, covering safety and clinical effectiveness. We expect boards to 
consider these, alongside local information, when making their declaration on compliance 
with the standards. 

Trusts will be asked to make a declaration on their compliance with the hygiene code. 
We also intend to extend the scope of our hygiene code inspection beyond the acute 
sector. This will be based on risk and may include the mental health sector. 

Assessment based on indicators 

We have developed, in consultation with trusts, a set of indicators that will constitute a 
more rounded assessment. They have been selected to be compatible with the vital signs 
indicators set for PCTs. They will cover four themes: 

• health and wellbeing 

• clinical effectiveness 

• safety 

• patient focus. 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 33 

Page 49



Section 4: Our assessments by sector (Continued) 

The indicators will be used as a single assessment of national priorities, and are included 
in appendix 1. Some of the indicators were included in the assessment of targets 
previously and have been marked with an asterisk in the lists. 

Quality of financial management 

All trusts will be assessed on their quality of financial management. This replaces the use of 
resources assessment used in previous years. As before however, for foundation trusts, this 
will be based on the work of Monitor, and for non-foundation trusts, the Audit Commission. 

Work based on services and aspects of care 

We will follow up our review of community mental health services to check on progress. 
There will also be a small national study on access to psychological therapies. 

Ambulance trusts 

We have been working to ensure that the indicators in the annual health check provide a 
more rounded assessment for the ambulance service. This is to reflect the full role of the 
ambulance service (as set out by the Government in its 2005 report Taking healthcare to the 
Patient in the provision of an increasing range of services and the wider role it plays in the 
provision of healthcare, in addition to its more traditional transport service. This also 
reflects patients’ and the ambulance sector’s wish to have a more rounded assessment 
including clinical quality. Therefore, as with previous years, the indicators include some 
clinical measures, a number of which are new for 2008/09. We have consulted extensively 
in their development. 

Our assessment for ambulance trusts has the same structure as that for mental health 
trusts. Existing and new national targets have been replaced by a single assessment of 
national priorities. 

Assessment of standards 

There will be minimal change to the criteria used in 2007/08. 

Assessment based on indicators 

Although the set of indicators that will be used to rate ambulance trusts is still quite 
small (11), there are several that are being used for the first time to provide a more 
rounded assessment. This is the result of wide consultation with the patient groups, 
trusts and the Department of Health. They have been selected to be compatible with 
the recently published vital signs indicators set for PCTs. They will cover three themes: 

• clinical effectiveness 

• safety 

• patient focus and access. 

34 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 

Page 50



As for mental health trusts, the indicators will be used as a single assessment of national 
priorities, and are listed in appendix 1. Those that were previously included in the 
assessment of targets are marked with an asterisk. Given the importance of meeting the 
targets on response times, we envisage that an ambulance trust will not receive a score 
of “excellent” if it is not meeting these targets. 

Quality of financial management 

All trusts will be assessed on their quality of financial management. This replaces the 
use of resources assessment but, as before, will be based on the Audit Commission’s 
judgements and the financial risk ratings from Monitor for foundation trusts. 

Learning disability trusts and services 

In the light of concerns about the quality of learning disability services in our 2007 national 
audit, we gave a commitment to introduce, for the first time, a set of performance indicators 
as part of the 2008/09 annual health check. This was welcomed in our consultation, 
although respondents also recognised the limitations of existing national data. We are 
therefore only introducing a small number for 2008/09. 

Assessment of standards 

There will be minimal change to the criteria used in 2007/08. 

Assessment based on indicators 

We will use a small set of indicators to rate trusts that provide learning disability services 
– two of which are specific to these service providers: the number of people with care 
plans and a measure on continued use of campus provision. The other two indicators, 
on data quality on ethnic group and delayed transfers of care to other sectors are also 
included in the assessments for other organisation types. 

Quality of financial management 

All trusts will be assessed on quality of financial management. This replaces the use of 
resources assessment but, as before, will be based on the Audit Commission’s 
judgements. 

The special organisations 

The special organisations (the Health Protection Agency, NHS Direct and NHS Blood and 
Transplant) will be assessed against standards in 2008/09, as in 2007/08. 

We are not expecting to make significant changes to the criteria for these organisations. 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 35 

Page 51



Section 5: Key aspects of our assessments 

This section summarises how our assessments in 2008/09 will focus on several important 
aspects of healthcare. These are: 

• safety 

• clinical quality 

• the experience of patients and the public – including dignity and access to care 

• health and wellbeing – including reducing health inequalities. 

We also have a duty to be concerned with the need to safeguard and promote the rights 
and welfare of children and have summarised our work for this group of patients. 

Safety 

The public expect safety to be at the heart of our assessments. Since 2005, our standards-
based assessments have encouraged trusts to develop a strong corporate approach to the 
management of safety. Our approach in 2008/09 will have a new focus on outcomes and 
how organisations address major risks to safety. We intend to improve our assessments 
in areas where data reported to the National Patient Safety Agency, such as falls and the 
management of medication, and information collected by the Health Protection Agency, 
suggests the greatest level of risk. In our visits to trusts, we intend not just to focus on 
corporate approach to these areas but also on the actions taken and outcomes. 

In 2008/09 we will also: 

• Include indicators on safety within our indicator-based assessment of acute, ambulance 
and mental health trusts. The proposed list of indicators is included in appendix 1. 

• Develop a small set of benchmarks on safety. We will build on the set of benchmarks 
for the 2007/08 annual health check covering issues such as mortality rates and the 
percentage of staff that experienced violence or harassment. The benchmark indicators 
are provided to supplement local information for trust boards to consider when making 
decisions on declaration on relevant standards. 

• Continue with our assessments on the management of controlled drugs and ionising 
radiation. Controlled drugs are monitored through compliance with core standard 
C4d and National Minimum Standard C24 for the independent sector. We also have a 
programme of both risk-based and responsive inspections with regard to the Ionising 
Radiation (Medical Exposure) Regulations. 

• Carry out an in-depth review of the management of medication in primary care. It will 
look at what primary care trusts do, as commissioners, to ensure safe practice. As part 
of the review, we will look at what action primary care professionals take to ensure safety 
of medicine use after a patient is discharged from acute or mental health facilities. 

36 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 

Page 52



• We will work with the National Patient Safety Agency, strategic health authorities and 
others to identify ways of using information on serious patient safety to highlight areas 
of risk and target interventions better. 

Key aspects of our assessments: In 2008/09 we will carry out an 
in-depth review of the management of medication in primary care. 

Healthcare associated infections and the hygiene code 

Patients and the public are, rightly, particularly concerned about hygiene within hospitals, 
and whether trusts are taking adequate steps to prevent the spread of healthcare 
associated infections. In addition to the two high profile investigations that we have carried 
out recently, we have also been conducting risk-based unannounced inspections in local 
trusts to check compliance with aspects of the hygiene code, where information suggests 
there may be cause for concern. We have also carried out inspections in trusts where 
concerns about other standards have triggered a visit. 

In 2008/09 we will extend the scope for this programme to non-acute settings. 

We have also been asked by the Government to expand our programme of visits with 
regard to healthcare associated infections to cover all acute trusts in 2008/09. We will use 
an assessment of risk to prioritise the order of trusts visited and to determine what is 
inspected during our visits. 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 37 

Page 53



Section 5: Key aspects of our assessments (Continued) 

We will continue to assess progress on meeting the national priorities for MRSA and 
Clostridium difficile infections in our indicator-based assessments of trusts. 

Clinical quality 

Patients expect that their clinical care will be high quality, based on evidence of effective 
best practice and delivered by competent clinicians. Assessing the quality of clinical care 
provided by trusts is an important role of the Healthcare Commission, focusing both on 
indicators and outcomes. In 2008/09 we will do this in several ways. 

As in previous years, we will ask trust boards to declare that they are compliant with 
standard C5 and aspects of other core standards that feature clinical quality issues. For 
core standard C5, this means that they have key processes in place and: 

• They conform to National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) technology 
appraisals, and where it is available, take into account nationally agreed guidance when 
planning and delivering care and treatment. 

• Clinical care and treatment are carried out under supervision and leadership. 

• Clinicians continuously update skills and techniques relevant to their clinical work. 

• Clinicians participate in regular clinical audit and reviews of clinical services. 

However, compliance with this standard is not enough to assess that the care delivered 
to patients is of high clinical quality. The core standards relate mostly to the processes 
and systems that underpin the delivery of quality care. At best it can provide a good 
foundation but attention to outcomes is also needed. We will therefore, for the first time 
in 2008/09, introduce an element of follow through in our targeted assessment visits to 
trusts. We will select a ‘tracer’ aspect of clinical care and request specific evidence of 
good practice to back up general evidence of assurance compliance with the standard. 

Our engagement with clinical staff has underlined the need for robust, valid and reliable 
outcome measures to assess clinical quality. Lord Darzi, in his recent interim review 
commissioned by the Department of Health, said that clinicians want to compare their 
performance with others. There is however, “a lack of directly comparable data” and “it is 
not benchmarked in a systematic way”. He proposed that a clear framework be established 
with standard ways to measure results which will allow clinicians “to demonstrate the 
high quality of what they do” and “identify what is needed to sustain and improve that high 
quality”. The report of the high level group chaired by Sir John Tooke has also advocated a 
more integrated structure for “diagnosing and treating problems of clinical effectiveness”5. 

5. Report of the High Level Group on Clinical Effectiveness (chaired by Sir John Tooke): a report to the Chief Medical Officer, 

Department of Health, (October 2007). 

38 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 

Page 54



In our consultation document, we sought views on including an indicator on venous 
thrombo-embolism prophylaxis (VTE) for the acute trust rating. The consultation responses 
recognised that this was an important area, but generally considered that there is currently 
not an adequate, consistent data source available for rating. However, when trust boards 
complete their declaration on standards, it is important that they consider the implications 
of nationally agreed best practice for the services they provide and whether and how such 
guidance should be implemented. This includes the relevant guidance on VTE. 

In 2008/09 we will: 

• Build systematically on our earlier work by including a number of indicators of clinical 
quality in the set used for rating trusts (see appendix 1). These have been developed in 
consultation with trusts and clinicians. They will be small in number as we are limited 
to using information that does not require special data collection. 

• Develop a set of benchmarking indicators of clinical quality. These will build on the set 
of benchmark indicators for the 2007/08 annual health check. Wherever possible these 
will be focused on outcomes. We expect that they will be taken into account by trust 
boards alongside local data when considering their compliance with the standards for 
their declarations. Comparison with the performance with other trusts will help to drive 
improvement. 

• Develop a structured set of benchmark indicators on stroke care and prevention. 
The indicators will be chosen, after consultation with clinicians and stakeholders, to 
be comprehensive. In the first instance, not all the information needed will be available 
and we will publish the information that is available, and work with the service to 
develop data sources for the remainder. One of the key aims of this work will be to 
provide clinicians with useful information to drive improvement in services. 

• Include elements of the assessment of clinical quality in the work being planned on 
end-of-life care and on safe prescribing of medication for patients after they have 
been discharged from hospital. We also plan to follow up previous service reviews 
on children’s services, medicines management and community mental health, and 
indicators of clinical quality will be used, wherever possible, as part of this process. 

We have been working with the Academy of Medical Royal Colleges, Royal College of 
Nursing, NICE and other clinical organisations to develop a more strategic approach to 
our assessments of clinical quality. We will build on this through the year. In particular, 
we will work with the royal colleges and other key clinical organisations in the 
development of their accreditation schemes. We acknowledge the potential that these 
have to be valuable parts of our assessment processes in the future. Where we can, we 
will feed in any information already available from these schemes, for example from the 
cancer peer review scheme, into the information that we use to risk assess trusts on 
their compliance with clinical standards. 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 39 

Page 55



Section 5: Key aspects of our assessments (Continued) 

Another way that trusts ensure the delivery of high quality clinical care is by supporting 
the education and training of their clinicians as advocated by Sir John Tooke’s report. 
Some of the Government’s standards also highlight this (core standards C5c and C11). 
In 2008/09 we will use both survey data and qualitative information produced by the 
Postgraduate Medical Education and Training Board in our risk assessments for trusts. 
We will also consider using information from the staff survey on training as part of the 
benchmarking set we will give to trusts. 

Patient-centred care 

Healthcare must, of course, be safe and evidence-based – but it must also be focused on 
patients and be humane. Healthcare organisations face many competing pressures every 
day – but it is important that they do not lose sight of the basics. Many patients need help 
with personal hygiene, nutrition and continence. When they are ill and unable to move, 
they are also at risk of developing pressure ulcers, usually preventable with good nursing 
care. Whatever their diagnosis or care needs though, patients should always be treated 
with dignity and respect, including being kept informed about all aspects of their care. The 
2007 patient survey data highlighted wide variation in the performance of trusts in many 
vital areas of patient-centred care. We expect lower performing trusts to be taking action 
to improve the experience of patients and we will make extensive use of the patient survey 
in targeting follow-up inspections. 

An important role for the Healthcare Commission to encourage trusts to see getting these 
basics right as a priority. We already do this through our assessment of the core 
standards in Standards for Better Health. For example core standard C13a requires that: 

• “Healthcare organisations have systems in place to ensure that staff treat patients, 
their relatives and carers with dignity and respect.” 

Core standard 15b requires that: 

• “Healthcare organisations have systems in place to ensure that patients’ individual 
nutritional, personal and clinical dietary requirements are met, including where 
necessary help with feeding and access to food 24 hours a day.” 

Core standard 16 requires that: 

• “Healthcare organisations make information available to patients and the public on 
their services, provide patients with suitable and accessible information on the care 
and treatment they receive and, where appropriate, inform patients on what to expect 
during treatment, care and after care.” 

‘Essence of care’ is a toolkit published by the Department of Health that was designed to 
help health (and social) care organisations focus on these essentials. Trusts have found 
it helpful when reviewing their own practice. We already consider that audits done as part 
of these reviews are useful and may help trusts when considering how to demonstrate 

40 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 

Page 56



compliance with relevant standards. As we develop our inspection guides for 2008/09, 
we will review whether we can build further on this. 

We will also work closely with clinicians to develop, where possible, outcome indicators 
for these important basic aspects of care. 

Reducing health inequalities and promoting health and wellbeing 

All trusts have a responsibility to ensure that the services they commission or provide 
actively reduce health inequalities for the people they serve and that they promote 
wellbeing. As in previous years, we will ask all trusts to declare that they are compliant with 
public health core standards C22, C23 and C24 in Standards for Better Health. This means 
that trusts ensure that they cooperate with each other and with local authorities and other 
organisations, making appropriate and effective contributions to local partnership 
arrangements to improve the health of the community and narrow health inequalities. 

We will continue to develop our focus on measuring how commissioning drives health 
improvement and reduces inequalities in health outcomes and access to healthcare. 
The focus for provider trusts will be on their role in promoting good health for their 
patients, staff and visitors to include: 

• Providing services to help people stop smoking and have a smoke-free environment 

• Providing opportunities for healthy eating 

• Providing opportunities for physical activity 

• Encouraging sensible drinking of alcohol 

• Improving mental health and wellbeing 

• Promoting sexual health. 

In 2008/09 we propose to carry out a national study of the performance of primary care 
trusts (PCTs) in the reduction of health inequalities, using coronary heart disease as an 
example. The study will look at the prescribing of statins and achievement of smoking 
quit rates at PCT level in relation to the prevalence of coronary heart disease and life 
expectancy for each PCT. This study will use newly available estimates of prevalence, 
calculated by the Eastern Health Observatory. 

We will also publish information on comparative performance for each PCT. This will 
include all relevant indicators in the vital signs framework, many of which are closely 
linked to initiatives to reduce inequalities in health and to improve the health of the 
population. We will work jointly with the Department of Health and others to ensure 
robust comparisons of performance are presented including, where appropriate, 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 41 

Page 57



Section 5: Key aspects of our assessments (Continued) 

international best practice. Our thoughts on this are at an early stage and we would 
like to explore our thinking through consultation. 

Children’s health and healthcare services 

We have a statutory duty to be concerned with the need to safeguard and promote the 
rights and welfare of children and we take this responsibility seriously. Children’s health 
services are increasingly commissioned as part of children’s trust arrangements, in 
partnership with local authorities, with outcomes measured across the health community. 
We need to ensure that our assessments reflect this joined-up working while enabling us 
to focus on the contribution played by health organisations, either acute trusts or PCTs. 

In 2008/09 we will report on a small set of indicators following up from our previous 
review of children’s hospital services. The review identified some significant deficiencies 
in care (for example insufficient staff training and facilities to cater specifically for 
children’s needs). Eleven indicators were identified to follow up and track progress in 
these areas, which are being collected for us by Durham University in its child health, 
child and adolescent mental health services and maternity services mapping6. 

We are also developing a set of structured benchmarks on children’s health and 
healthcare services, supplementing those already collected under public health and 
mental health criteria, and using existing datasets and collections where these are 
available. These indicators will focus primarily on services provided or commissioned by 
PCTs, and will link into the core standards. They are grouped into three main themes, 
aligning with the Department of Health/Department for Children, Schools and Families 
Child health Strategy (expected to be published in September 2008). These themes are: 

• Universal children’s services, promoting health and wellbeing. These will explore the 
use of indicators on services such as immunisation and screening provided to all 
children in order to promote health. 

• Services for vulnerable children, where extra health service support is necessary, 
usually for a relatively short term. These will include indicators in such areas as mental 
health and teenage pregnancy. 

• Services for children with disabilities and long-term complex needs. 

We expect these indicators to: 

• Provide an overview of the risk profile of the PCT with respect to improving children’s 
health and healthcare services. 

6. Durham University was asked by the Department of Health in 2002 to collect information from trusts related to child and 

adolescent mental health services. Trusts found this helpful and so this has been expanded to cover other aspects of 

child health. 

42 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 

Page 58



• Trigger discussions about children’s services at board level to foster improvement 
across the service. 

We are also intending to examine and improve the impact that joint area reviews 
(JARs) and youth offending team (YOT) inspections have on our assessments of NHS 
organisations. For example, where there are concerns, we may carry out follow up visits, 
taking escalated action as appropriate and we will continue to feed the results into 
standards-based assessments across the range of relevant standards. 

Towards a future inspection programme on children’s health services 

The JAR programme and the current YOT inspection cycle will both be completed by 
December 2008, but the learning and benefits from this joint inspectorate programme 
are already shaping our design of future assessment work. This needs to reflect the 
increasingly joined-up nature of community-based care provision across an authority area. 
We will be working with other regulatory partners to consider how children’s health will 
be included in future assessment processes, for example as part of comprehensive area 
assessments (CAAs), and as a themed strand in Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation’s 
proposed modified YOT inspection programme. We would aim increasingly to focus our 
expertise, for example by advising and supporting inspectors from other organisations 
where children’s health is a consideration, such as for youth justice, safeguarding children 
and education and social care establishment inspections. We will seek to ensure that 
health service contributions to YOTs and health outcomes for children being assisted by 
YOTs will continue to be considered, and that the new CAA and other parallel programmes 
include robust assessment of health provision of this particularly vulnerable group of 
young people. 

Safeguards 

We remain vigilant in our role of ensuring that children at risk are identified, while 
recognising the increasing role of local safeguarding children boards (LSCBs) in 
overseeing effective joint working and training around child protection and safeguarding 
issues. We invited LSCBs to provide a comment on trusts’ core standards declarations in 
May 2008, and will continue with this engagement, providing input into our assessments 
wherever possible. We expect to publish in July the third Joint Chief Inspector’s review 
on safeguarding children and young people jointly with OFSTED and other inspectorates 
and will support implementation of the recommendations arising from that work. We will 
monitor the declarations of trusts on core standard C2 and follow up as appropriate, 
should safeguarding concerns be raised, publishing our findings of this and other 
safeguarding work in our State of Healthcare report. 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 43 

Page 59



Section 5: Key aspects of our assessments (Continued) 

Incorporating the views of patients and the public into our assessments 

Patients and the public want to be involved in decisions about health and healthcare. 
Core standard C17 requires that trusts take the view of patients, their carers and others 
into account in designing, planning, delivering and improving healthcare services. 
We assess compliance with this standard as part of our regular assessment. People also 
want their views to count in assessments of healthcare organisations. In 2008/09 we will 
gather the views and experiences of patients and the public through: 

• The national programme of surveys of patients. In 2008/09 the programme of surveys 
will continue to affect how we monitor trusts throughout the year (see appendix 3 for 
what we will cover). 

• The new local involvement networks (LINks) due to have been established in April 2008 
to provide a channel for local voices. 

• Engagement with national and local voluntary organisations, and community-based 
and patient-led organisations, making special efforts to reach marginalised groups that 
are often most vulnerable to ill health and whose voices are seldom heard. We will put 
particular emphasis on this direct engagement since many of the new LINks have not 
yet been fully established and will not therefore have been in existence for the full 
assessment year. 

• Commentaries received from overview and scrutiny committees and the boards of 
governors of foundation trusts. 

• Ensuring that we involve patients in the design of our in-depth reviews. 

• Using the analysis of the complaints that are referred to us and an indication of how 
well trusts are handling concerns raised by patients. 

These views of patients feed directly into the information that we use to assess the risk 
that trusts are not compliant with the Government’s standards. 

It is also important however, that we are responsive to the views of patients not just at 
the end of the year, when local organisations are formally invited to comment, but during 
the year, allowing us to respond quickly to patient concerns. We do this by feeding views 
passed from local groups and regional staff into our databases when we receive them. 
We then ‘screen’ the data through the year allowing new data to influence where we 
visit trusts. 

We will also carry out a national study on patient and public engagement. This will focus 
on investigating the efforts that trusts and independent healthcare providers are taking to 
engage patients in the design of services. We will be finding out how effective this 
engagement is, and identifying the most successful strategies. 

44 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 

Page 60



Section 6: How the annual health check 
process works 

The rated part of the annual health check is made up of a score for quality of services 
and a score for the quality of financial management (see figure 6). The quality of services 
score is itself made up of a score based on an assessment of the core standards and an 
assessment based on indicators. The quality of financial management, derived from work 
done by the Audit Commission for non-foundation trusts and Monitor for foundation 
trusts, forms the second part of the rating and is presented separately. 
The structure of the rating is a little different for PCTs this year reflecting the separation 
in their provider and commissioner functions and this is explained more fully on page 25. 

Figure 6: The annual health check in 2008/09 

Information used to assess risk and target local 
visits to provide assurance on standards 

Assessment 
of national 
priorities 

The assessment of the performance of the NHS 

Quality of 
financial 

management 

Assessment 
of standards 

Assessment of services 

Annual performance rating 
(made up of two parts) 

Broader picture 
of performance 

Quality of 
services 

Reviews, studies 
and other work 

on services 
and topics 

Quality of 
financial 

management 

The assessment based on standards 

Trust boards are responsible for ensuring that the governance and the services provided 
by their trust comply with the standards laid down by the Government. In April 2009 they 
will, as previously, be required to declare to what extent they comply with the standards 
and we will use this as the basis for our assessment. 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 45 

Page 61



Section 6: How the annual health check process works (Continued) 

Each year, we publish the criteria on which they should base that declaration, and for 
2008/09 we aim to do this later in the summer – earlier than in previous years. For provider 
trusts we are not expecting any significant changes from 2007/08. For PCTs the revised 
criteria will reflect the separation in the assessment of their provider and commissioning 
functions. 

Information for trust boards 

As in 2007/08, we will provide a small set of benchmark indicators to show the 
performance of the trusts in relation to similar trusts on aspects of safety and quality. 
We expect this information to be useful to trust boards, along with data that is available 
locally to them, when reviewing their compliance with the standards. We intend to provide 
this information for acute and mental health trusts. 

Cross-checking the declarations 

We cross-check declarations made by trust boards against the nationally available data 
that we hold, including the set of indicators we issue to trust boards (described above). 
An important part of this information comes from the comprehensive programme of 
patient and staff surveys (described in appendix 3). In 2008/09 we will also use the 
commentaries obtained from the new local involvement networks and the views of the 
public through local government overview and scrutiny committees. This year, we will 
also be asking our regional staff to engage with local and national voluntary groups and 
to make particular efforts to reach vulnerable and marginalised groups and to feed this 
information back into our databases. 

On the basis of this information, we form an assessment of the risk of any undeclared 
non-compliance with the standards by a trust. We then identify a group of trusts for a 
visit from this assessment and another group that are identified at random. 

Since these visits will not be conducted until after April 2009, we expect that the Care 
Quality Commission will take the responsibility for carrying them out. 

The inspections are primarily designed to detect areas of undeclared non-compliance 
by trusts and, in doing so, safeguard the interests of patients. If an inspection detects an 
area of lack of assurance of compliance and the trust had declared that it was assured 
of compliance for that standard, the declaration is qualified. Performance on compliance 
with the standards is scored and aggregated with the score on national priorities forming 
the quality of services score. 

46 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 

Page 62



Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 47

Rating

Publishing of user
friendly comparative

information
on trusts

Views of patients including
local involvement networks

Trust’s self assessment of compliance with standards*

Declaration
Views of patients including

local government

Cross-checking
with information

No further
action

ScoreScore

Target inspection Random inspection

Aggregate with scores from performance on national priorities

Figure 7: How the annual health check rating is derived

Page 63



Section 6: How the annual health check process works (Continued) 

Following up on non-compliance with standards 

Just asking for a declaration at the end of the year on compliance with the standards is, 
we believe, insufficient to safeguard the interests of patients. Following the publication of 
the 2006/07 ratings in October 2007, we visited all trusts that scored “weak” on both their 
quality of services and quality of financial management score. We invited representatives 
of the relevant strategic health authorities to these meetings. The meetings were to 
ensure that strategic health authorities were aware of action plans for addressing 
non-compliance and to ensure that they would follow up with the trusts concerned. 

It is important that we maintain our focus on driving compliance with the current 
standards over the next year in preparation for the new regulatory arrangements planned 
by the Government. We therefore intend, once more, to visit all trusts that score “weak” 
on the quality of services score in the 2007/08 annual health check and follow up on 
declared non-compliance with standards. We will again involve Monitor and the strategic 
health authorities in these meetings to ensure that they are engaged through their 
performance management role for trusts in driving compliance with the standards. 

Monitoring performance through the year 

We also use all the information that we hold to monitor the performance of trusts during 
the year. We keep it up to date, feeding in new data as it becomes available. We analyse 
hospital episode statistics, looking particularly for unusual results, such as unexpectedly 
high mortality rates given the type of patients being treated, or for trends where 
performance appears to be deteriorating. Sometimes this information is produced via our 
work on services and topics. A particularly important source is the views of patients and 
the public that are fed in through our local representatives. 

We make periodic checks on this data to see if it raises concerns about particular 
standards or aspects of performance and, if necessary, visit a trust. 

We also visit trusts to check on compliance with the hygiene code. We will visit all acute 
trusts during the year and will extend the programme to cover the non-acute sector on a 
risk basis. 

Any of these visits may result in one of the outcomes shown in figure 8. 

48 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 

Page 64



Figure 8: Possible outcomes of visits to trusts 

Trust performance 

acceptable or 

compliant with 

the standard 

• No further 
action – will 
‘turn off’ risk 
flag in our 
database 

Concern identified 

• Letter of 
notification 

• Follow up with 
trust 

• Will continue to 
flag as risk in 
our database 

Significant lapse 

identified 

• Letter of 
notification 

• Follow up with 
trust 

• Trust should not 
declare compliant 
throughout 
the year 

Serious concern 

about patient 

safety 

• Escalation – 
notification to 
strategic health 
authority, 
Monitor, possible 
investigation 

Assessment based on indicators: existing commitments and national priorities 

In 2008/09 we have developed rounded sets of indicators that we will use to rate trusts. 
For PCTs these are (with one exception) drawn from the vital signs framework and 
existing commitments. For all the other trusts, the indicators have been developed to be 
compatible with the vital signs framework. We have already published the rationales for 
our choice of indicators together with the sources. Detailed constructions however, will be 
published later in the year. In some cases this is because we are working to ensure that 
common constructions are used for all partners in the comprehensive area assessment. 

The scores for these rated indicators are aggregated with the score from the standards-
based assessment to provide the quality of services part of the rating. 

We expect the results of the annual health check to be published by the new Care Quality 
Commission in the autumn of 2009. 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 49 

Page 65



Appendix 1: Indicators** 

Primary care trusts – commissioning indicators 

Existing commitments 

Diabetic retinopathy screening* 

Access to GUM clinics* 

Category A calls meeting 19 minute standard* 

Category A calls meeting 8 minute standard* 

Category B calls meeting 19 minute standard* 

Time to reperfusion for patients following a heart attack* 

Delayed transfers of care* 

Commissioning of early intervention in psychosis services* 

Commissioning of crisis resolution/home treatment services* 

Total time in A&E* 

Outpatients waiting longer than the 13 week standard* 

Inpatients waiting longer than the 26 week standard* 

Patients waiting longer than three months for revascularisation* 

Data quality on ethnic group* 

National priorities 

Stroke care 

Teenage pregnancy rates* 

Chlamydia screening (as a proxy for chlamydia prevalence) 

Childhood obesity rate 

Four week smoking quitters* (as a proxy for smoking prevalence) 

Reduction in <75 CVD mortality rate* 

Reduction in <75 cancer mortality rate* 

All age all cause mortality 

Suicide and injury of undetermined intent mortality rate: we are continuing to 
explore possible data sources to assess this commitment 

Commissioning a comprehensive CAMHS* 

50 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 

Page 66



Primary care trusts – commissioning indicators (continued) 

National priorities 

Incidence of Clostridium difficile 

18-week referral to treatment times* 

All cancers: two week wait* 

All cancers: one month diagnosis to treatment* (including new cancer strategy 
commitment) 

All cancers: two-month GP urgent referral to treatment* (including new cancer 
strategy commitment) 

Breast cancer screening* 

Access to primary care* 

Experience of patients* 

Drug users in effective treatment 

NHS staff satisfaction 

Access to primary dental services 

Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks from birth: data coverage 

Pregnant women: 12-week maternity appointment 

Immunisation coverage (children) 

* Indicators that were in place for the 2007/08 targets assessment. Please note that there may be changes to 
the constructions. 

** There are a small number of indicators in this list that were not in our consultation. They are included to 
reflect the requirements for trusts set out in the Department of Health’s operating framework for the NHS. 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 51 

Page 67



H
e

a
lt

h
 a

n
d

 w
e

ll
b

e
in

g 2008/09 acute indicator Existing 
commitment 

National 
priority 

Infant health and inequalities: smoking during 
pregnancy and breastfeeding initiation* �
Access to genito-urinary medicine (GUM)* �
Data quality on ethnic group* �
Experience of patients – health and wellbeing 
domain(s) 

�

C
li

n
ic

a
l 

q
u

a
li

ty

Participation in heart disease audits �
Time to reperfusion for patients following a 
heart attack* �
Engagement in clinical audits �
Stroke care* �
Experience of patients – clinical quality 
domain(s) �
Maternity Hospital Episode Statistics: data 
quality indicator �

S
a

fe
ty

 Incidence of MRSA* �
Experience of patients – safety domain(s) �
Incidence of Clostridium difficile* �

Appendix 1: Indicators (Continued) 

Acute and specialist trusts 

The scoring methodology, including the potential weighting of individual indicators, is to 
be developed. The methodology will reflect a balance across the indicators set in line with 
the national priorities set out in the operating framework. 

52 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 

Page 68



Acute and specialist trusts (continued) 

P
a

ti
e

n
t 

fo
cu

s 
a

n
d

 a
cc

e
ss

 

2008/09 acute indicator Existing 
commitment 

National 
priority 

Delayed transfers of care* �
18-week referral to treatment times* �
All cancers: two-week wait* �
All cancers: one month diagnosis to treatment 
(including new cancer strategy commitment)* �
All cancers: two-month GP urgent referral to 
treatment (including new cancer strategy 
commitment)* 

�

Total time in A&E* �
Experience of patients – patient focus and 
access domain(s) �
Outpatients waiting longer than the 13-week 
standard* �
Inpatients waiting longer than the 26-week 
standard* �
Patients waiting longer than three months for 
revascularisation* �
Waiting times for rapid access chest pain clinic* �
Cancelled operations and those not admitted 
within 28 days* �
NHS staff satisfaction �
Total 10 16 

* Denotes indicator that was an indicator in 2007/08. Please note that there may be changes to the construction.  

2007/08 total number of indicators: 25 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 53 

Page 69



Appendix 1: Indicators (Continued) 

Ambulance trusts 

2008/09 ambulance indicator 

Management of acute myocardial infarction 

Management of hypoglycaemic attacks 

Management of asthma 

Management of patients with cardiac arrest 

Management of stroke and transient ischaemic attack 

Time to reperfusion for patients who have had a heart attack* 

Repair and safe environment of ambulances 

Category A 8 minute ambulance response times* 

Category A 19 minute ambulance response times* 

Category B 19 minute ambulance response times* 

Experience of patients/users 

NHS staff satisfaction 

C
li

n
ic

a
l 

q
u

a
li

ty
S

a
fe

ty
P

a
ti

e
n

t 
fo

cu
s 

a
n

d
 a

cc
e

ss
 

* Denotes indicator that was an indicator in 2007/08. Please note that there may be changes to the 
construction. Given the importance of meeting the targets on response times, we envisage that an 
ambulance trust will not receive a score of “excellent” if it is not meeting these targets. 

2007/08 total number of indicators: 9 

54 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 

Page 70



Mental health trusts (including PCTs that provide mental health services) 

The scoring methodology, including the potential weighting of individual indicators, is to 
be developed. The methodology will reflect a balance across the indicators set in line with 
the national priorities set out in the Operating Framework. 

2008/09 mental health indicator 

Data quality on ethnic group* 

Experience of patients – health and wellbeing domain(s) 

Patterns of care from the Mental Health Minimum Dataset (MHMDS) 

Completeness of the mental health minimum data set (MHMDS) 

Access to crisis resolution home treatment (CRHT)* 

Child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS) 

Experience of patients – clinical quality domain(s) 

Proportion of people receiving follow-up contact within seven days of discharge 
from hospital 

Experience of patients – safety domain(s) 

Delayed transfers of care 

Best practice in mental health services for people with a learning disability 
(green light toolkit) 

Experience of patients – patient focus and access domain(s) 

Drug users in effective treatment* 

NHS staff satisfaction 

H
e

a
lt

h
 a

n
d

w
e

ll
b

e
in

g
C

li
n

ic
a

l 
q

u
a

li
ty

S
a

fe
ty

P
a

ti
e

n
t 

fo
cu

s
a

n
d

 a
cc

e
ss

 

* Denotes indicator that was an indicator in 2007/08. Please note that there may be changes to the construction. 

2007/08 total number of indicators: 10 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 55 

Page 71



56 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09

Appendix 1: Indicators (Continued)

Learning disability trusts (and all trusts that provide learning disability services)

Amendments to thresholds – general rounding principle

The Healthcare Commission has, along with Monitor, historically applied a general rounding
principle to the thresholds used to assess performance on indicators. For example, a trust
would be deemed to have achieved a 98% target if its performance was 97.5% or above.

In 2008/09, again in common with Monitor, we are not intending to apply this principle in
general. For example, a trust would have to reach performance at or above 98% to achieve
the four-hour total time in A&E target. This is a particularly meaningful example, as
significant numbers of patients are involved. Allowing 0.5% rounding means that large
number of patients may wait longer than four hours.

Exceptions will however be considered on an individual indicator basis, taking into account
issues such as low activity or thresholds that have little or no tolerance, such as those set 
at 99-100%.

2008/09 learning disability indicator

Number of people with a care plan

Campus provision

Delayed transfers of care

Data quality on ethnic group

�

�
�

�

Page 72



Appendix 2: Our programme of work on 
services or aspects of care 

Reviews and studies provide detailed probes into areas not specifically covered in the 
annual performance rating. They are instrumental in bringing about improvement and 
providing information that patients want. We have different approaches to carrying out 
reviews and studies for specific services and topics. The approach selected depends the 
nature of the topic, on the availability of data and other issues. 

Reviews include assessment of individual organisations and range from service reviews 
that provide a score for every organisation involved to targeted inspections. Findings from 
reviews are not used to calculate the annual performance ratings, but are published 
separately. Studies are aimed at assessing performance from a national rather than a 
local perspective and at disseminating guidelines for good practice. 

Detailed information from reviews and studies is also used to assess risk as part of our 
ongoing assessment of standards. 

We propose to carry out in-depth reviews in the following areas: 

Learning difficulties 

This will be joint work with the Commission for Social Care Inspection on the 
commissioning arrangements for the care of people with learning difficulties. It aims, 
among other things, to assess the degree of good partnership working across health and 
social care. We are planning this work because of concerns identified in our recent audit 
of the provision of learning disability services in healthcare organisations. 

Medicines management within general practice after discharge 

This work will assess primary care trusts’ (PCTs’) effectiveness at promoting the safe care 
of patients following their discharge from hospital (for example the extent to which they 
analyse GP performance and improve it through such things as commissioning and better 
use of pharmacists). It will test the action GPs take in response to discharge information 
(the arrangement for monitoring for side-effects and interactions and altering repeat 
prescriptions). We are planning this work because available information suggests that this 
is a key area of risk for patients. 

National studies are planned in the following areas: 

Patient and public engagement 

The work will explore the range of approaches and methods healthcare organisations 
(including independent healthcare) currently use to engage patients and the public in 
designing, delivering and improving health services. It will comment on how effective and 
useful patients and the public find these various techniques. It will also seek to identify 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 57 

Page 73



Appendix 2: Our programme of work on services or aspects of care (Continued) 

what things help organisations to achieve effective engagement and the impact this 
engagement can have on creating more personalised healthcare services. We plan to 
undertake this work because of the importance of patient input to healthcare services. 

Disabling factors in health 

This work will explore the physical and attitudinal barriers that are faced by disabled 
people when accessing healthcare. It will do this from the perspective of individual 
services rather than individual groups of people affected, so that the complex solutions 
needed for each service can be properly explored. This work is being undertaken to 
provide assurance that services are effectively taking on the needs of all groups of 
patients. 

Health inequalities 

This work will focus on the performance of PCTs in the reduction of health inequalities 
using coronary heart disease (CHD) as an example. The study will look at the prescribing of 
statins and achievement of smoking quit rates at PCT level in relation to the prevalence of 
CHD and life expectancy for each PCT. It will be based on newly available CHD prevalence 
estimates calculated by the Eastern Health Observatory. 

Access to psychological therapies 

This will draw together existing information from previous work, ongoing clinical audit 
work and from other significant work outside the Healthcare Commission, such as the 
London School of Economics, report on depression and recent Department of Health 
initiatives. It will highlight gaps in the information available. This is being done to 
summarise the current position in this important area and the actions that healthcare 
bodies should be taking. 

We will also be working with the National Audit Office on its end-of-life care project and 
plan to follow up selected previous service reviews using small sets of indicators. 
In 2008/09 this will apply to: 

• children’s hospital services 

• medicines management (acute sector) 

• community mental health services. 

58 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 

Page 74



Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 59

Comparative information

We also recognise that publishing comparative information about services can be
instrumental in bringing about improvement.

In 2008/09 we will develop, in liaison with clinicians and service providers, structured sets
of benchmark indicators in two different service areas:

Children’s health and healthcare services

The indicators will cover four main themes.

• Promoting health and wellbeing. These will include indicators on services such as
screening provided to all children in order to promote health.

• Hospital care. These will be the indicators described above as follow up to our review of
children’s hospital services.

• Services for vulnerable children. These will include indicators in such areas as mental
health and teenage pregnancy.

• Services for sick children. These will include indicators about children with long-term
conditions or disability.

We expect these indicators to:

• Provide an overview of the risk profile of the PCT with respect to improving children’s
health and healthcare services.

• Inform trust boards about their comparative performance on a range of important
indicators and trigger discussions about children’s services at board level to foster
improvement across the service.

Stroke care and prevention

We will carry out exploratory work with clinicians, patients and other key stakeholders
with the aim of developing a set of comparative indicators following the pathway of care
experienced by patients with stroke. 

We have been grateful for the support received for these topics from our consultation
prior to this publication and also for other topics suggested for future work, which we will
feed into our forward planning.

Page 75



Appendix 3: The programme of surveys of NHS 
staff and patients 

Surveys of the experiences of patients are an important part of our work programme. 
Obtaining feedback from patients and taking account of their views and priorities is vital 
for bringing about improvements in the quality of care, and keeping patients at the centre 
of health services. In 2008/09, the survey programme is expected to include the following: 

• People who use primary care services. 

• Adults attending hospital accident and emergency departments. 

• Adults recently discharged from inpatient care in acute or specialist hospitals. 

• People in, or recently discharged from, mental health inpatient services. 

• Subject to piloting, a survey of Category C ambulance service users. 

We will also develop and pilot patient surveys in several new areas for possible roll-out 
in 2009/10. These might, for example, include a survey of outpatients. 

We are also currently exploring the possibility of carrying out a survey of patients with 
long-term neurological conditions, for example, epilepsy. This will be a sample survey, 
so is not designed to assess the performance of organisations. We are planning however, 
to publish a report on the findings, giving a general assessment of service provision. 

We will also coordinate the national NHS staff survey. This provides individual employers 
in the NHS, policy makers and national regulators with information about the attitudes 
and experiences of staff in the NHS. The information is used to assess the performance of 
NHS organisations as employers, and to monitor the implementation of national policies 
designed to improve the working lives of staff and, ultimately, to provide better care for 
patients. 

How the findings contribute to the annual health check 

What patients and staff tell us through these surveys contributes to our system of ongoing 
performance assessment in relation to core standards. Each survey will contribute to one 
or more of our priority areas. The results from the surveys of patients’ experience also 
form part of our assessment of performance in relation to Government targets. 

We give the trusts detailed results from each survey. We also publish benchmark reports 
enabling the results to be compared between organisations over time, and a national 
summary of findings. 

60 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 

Page 76



Assessments used directly 
to calculate the annual 
performance rating 

Assessments to give a 
broader picture of 
performance 

Mental health 
trusts 

• Standards (including 
hygiene code compliance) 

• National priorities 

• Quality of financial 
management 

• Survey of people in or 
recently discharged from 
mental health inpatient 
services 

• Report on national study 
of access to psychological 
therapies 

Ambulance trusts • Standards (including 
hygiene code compliance) 

• National priorities 

• Quality of financial 
management 

Acute trusts • Standards (including 
hygiene code compliance) 

• Existing commitments 
and national priorities 

• Quality of financial 
management 

• National Inpatient Survey 

• Survey of adults attending 
hospital A&E departments 

Learning disability 
trusts 

• Standards 

• Indicators 

• Quality of financial 
management 

NHS Direct • Standards 

NHS Blood and 
Transplant 

• Standards 

Health Protection 
Agency 

• Standards 

Appendix 4: Summary of our assessments 
by sector 

Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 61 

Page 77



Appendix 4: Summary of our assessments by sector (Continued) 

Primary care trusts 

Assessments used directly 
to calculate the annual 
performance rating 

• Standards (including 
hygiene code compliance) 

• Existing commitments 
and national priorities 

• Quality of financial 
management 

Assessments to give a 
broader picture of 
performance 

• Survey of people who use 
primary care services 

• End-of-life care 

• Prescribing medication 
for patients after their 
discharge from hospital 

• Commissioning of 
learning disability 
services 

• Health inequalities 

62 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 

Page 78



Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 63 

Page 79



64 Healthcare Commission The annual health check in 2008/09 

Page 80



Page 81



Healthcare Commission 

Finsbury Tower 

103-105 Bunhill Row 

London 

EC1Y 8TG 

Kernel House 

Killingbeck Drive 

Killingbeck 

Leeds 

LS14 6UF 

Maid Marian House 

56 Hounds Gate 

Nottingham 

NG1 6BE 

5th Floor 

Peter House 

Oxford Street 

Manchester 

M1 5AX 

Dominions House 

Lime Kiln Close 

Stoke Gifford 

Bristol 

BS34 8SR 

1st Floor 

1 Friarsgate 

1011 Stratford Road 

Solihull 

B90 4AG 

Telephone 020 7448 9200 

Facsimile 020 7448 9222 

Helpline 0845 601 3012 

Email feedback@healthcarecommission.org.uk 

Website  www.healthcarecommission.org.uk 

This publication is printed on paper made 

from a minimum of 75% recycled fibre 

Page 82



Annual health check timetable 

The below is a provisional timetable that is intended to highlight key phases in the annual 
health check assessment cycle. The timetable also covers multiple assessment years, with 
milestones for the 2007/08 and 2008/09 assessments included. It is subject to change, and 
should not be viewed as comprehensive. In particular, milestones beyond 31 March 2009 are 
based on current thinking and will subsequently need to be approved by the new Care Quality 
Commission.

Thursday 25 September 2008
Healthcare Commission publishes draft criteria for 2008/09 core standards 
assessment

Thursday 16 October 2008 
Healthcare Commission publishes the 2007/08 annual health check 
performance ratings 

Thursday 30 October 2008 
Healthcare Commission publishes first tranche 2008/09 existing commitment 
and national priority indicator thresholds 

Wednesday 19 November 2008 
Deadline for trusts to submit a request for review of their 2007/08 annual 
health check rating to the Healthcare Commission 

January 2009 
Healthcare Commission publishes remaining 2008/09 existing commitment 
and national priority indicator constructions, and statistical banding paper 

Monday 12 January 2009 
Healthcare Commission issues indicator mappings for 2008/09 existing 
commitments and national priorities to SHAs for local engagement and sign 
off

Monday 16 February 2009 
Deadline for SHAs to sign off and return indicator mappings for the 2008/09 
existing commitments and national priorities assessment to the Healthcare 
Commission

Wednesday 18 February 2009 
2008/09 core standards registration webform made available to trusts 

Monday 23 February 2009 
Healthcare Commission issues indicator mappings for 2008/09 existing 
commitments and national priorities to Monitor for local engagement and sign 
off

Thursday 26 February 2009 
Healthcare Commission publishes 2008/09 annual health check performance 
rating scoring pack (including overall rating scoring rules, component scoring 
methodologies, and frequently asked questions document) 

Page 1 of 3 

Page 83



Tuesday 3 March 2009 
2008/09 core standards declaration webform made available to trusts 

Monday 16 March 2009 
Deadline for Monitor to sign off and return indicator mappings for the 2008/09 
existing commitments and national priorities assessment to the Healthcare 
Commission

Thursday 9 April 2009 
Special data collection webforms made available to trusts for 2008/09 existing 
commitments and national priorities assessment (trusts will be contacted in 
advance to identify nominated leads for completion of the form) 

Wednesday 15 April 2009 
Start of submission period for completed 2008/09 core standard declaration 
webforms to the Care Quality Commission 

Thursday 16 April 2009 
Care Quality Commission publishes 2008/09 ratification and extenuating 
circumstance protocols and proformas 

Thursday 23 April 2009 
Deadline for non foundation trusts to make special data collection webforms 
available to their SHAs for 2008/09 existing commitments and national 
priorities assessment  

Friday 1 May 2009 
End of submission period for completed 2008/09 core standard declaration 
webforms to the Care Quality Commission. Start of resubmission period. 

Thursday 7 May 2009  
Deadline for SHAs and foundation trusts to submit special data collection 
webforms to the Care Quality Commission for 2008/09 existing commitments 
and national priorities assessment 

Friday 8 May 2009  
End of resubmission period for completed 2008/09 core standard declaration 
webforms to the Care Quality Commission 

Wednesday 20 May 2009  
Secure website made available for ratification of 2008/09 existing 
commitments and national priorities data (usernames, passwords and 
guidance will be made available prior to go live) 

Friday 22 May 2009  
Deadline for all trusts to have published their 2008/09 core standards 
declaration

Summer 2009
2008/09 follow up core standards visits undertaken 

Page 2 of 3 

Page 84



Summer 2009
2008/09 existing commitments and new national priorities indicator data 
uploaded to secure ratification website in phases according to data 
availability; trusts offered the opportunity to submit enquiries regarding the 
ratification data, as well as extenuating circumstances requests 

August 2009
2008/09 ratification and extenuating circumstances period for quality of 
financial management (previously known as use of resources) data 

October 2009
Publication of the 2008/09 annual health check ratings 

Page 3 of 3 

Page 85



Page 86

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

 

   

 

Health Scrutiny Committee 5th January 2009 

 
Report of the Head of Civic, Democratic & Legal Services 

 

Update on Dental Services 

Summary 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide Members with an update on the 
provision of NHS dental services in York and to present Members of the 
Committee with a new style of reporting template from the Primary Care Trust 
(PCT). This information is attached at Annex 1 to this report. 

 Background 

2. During 2006/07 the Health Scrutiny Committee received regular updates on the 
numbers of people on the waiting list for allocation to an NHS dentist in York 
and the numbers who had been allocated since the last update. 

3. There were also concerns from Members about allegations that some dental 
practices had been forced to cease offering treatment as they had used up 
their agreed units of dental activity and how this can affect patients. 

4. Members had agreed to keep a watching brief on the numbers of allocations to 
dental practices and also to ask for an update on the situation regarding the 
use of units of dental activity and how this could affect patients. 

5. At a meeting on 3 December 2007 Members requested the following 
information be included in future updates: 

• Information from the Office of National Statistics on numbers of people who 
did not see a dentist at all. 

• How long patients waited to be allocated an NHS dentist and how much 
additional capacity was being created as opposed to additional capacity 
being made when patients moved on. 

• A report back on progress with commissioning a Sunday morning 
emergency dental clinic. 

6. At a further meeting on 7 July 2008 Members requested that future updates 
should be provided in writing, preferably in time to form part of the meeting 
agenda. They also requested that written updates be provided in the form of a 

Agenda Item 5Page 87



 

‘standard template’ in order that the requested data was reported to them and 
presented in a manner that was easily interpreted.  

Consultation  

7. This report is part of the ongoing consultation between Members and the 
various Health Trusts. 

8. An informal meeting was held on 13th August 2008 and attended by the Chair 
and Vice-Chair of the Health Scrutiny Committee, the Scrutiny Officer and 
Amanda Brown the Assistant Director; Corporate and Public Affairs at the 
Primary Care Trust (PCT). The aim of the meeting was to explore the best way 
to present information to the Committee in the future and to find a format for 
presenting statistics that could clearly show trends within the service.  

9. Amanda Brown will attend today’s meeting to answer any questions that 
Members may have on the information provided. 

Options  

10. Members may wish to consider: 

• Whether the new reporting template is an appropriate way of providing 
the necessary statistical information or whether they wish to amend or 
change this. 

• Whether they wish to receive further updates and at what intervals. If so 
these would need to be added to the Health Scrutiny Committee work 
plan. 

 

Analysis 
 

11. Although receiving regular updates is invaluable in keeping Members informed 
of progress regarding developments in dental services, Members may wish to 
consider whether this will have an impact on other work scheduled on the 
current work plan. 

Corporate Priorities 

12. This report relates to the following corporate priority: 

‘Improve the health and lifestyles of the people who live in York, in particular 
among groups whose levels of health are the poorest.’ 

 Implications 

13. Financial – There are no known financial implications associated with this 
report. 

14. Human Resources – There are no known Human Resources implications 
associated with this report. 

Page 88



 

15. There are no Equalities, Legal, Crime & Disorder, Information Technology, 
Property or other implications associated with this report. 

Risk Management 
 

16. In compliance with the Council’s risk management strategy there are no known 
risks associated with the recommendations in this report. 

Recommendations 

17. Members are asked to: 

i. Note the report and the update from the PCT. 

ii. Decide whether they wish to adopt the new reporting template 

iii. Decide whether they would like to receive further updates on dental 
services in York and at what intervals so that these can be added to the 
Health Scrutiny Committee’s work plan. 

Reason: In order to carry out their duty to promote the health needs of the 
people they represent. 

Contact Details 

 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 
Quentin Baker 
Head of Civic, Democratic & Legal Services 
01904 551004 
 

Tracy Wallis 
Scrutiny Officer 
Scrutiny Services 
01904 551714 

Report Approved � Date 18.12.2008 

 

Specialist Implications Officer(s) 
 
None 

 

All � Wards Affected:  

 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 

 

Background Papers: 
 

None 
 
Annexes 
 
Annex 1 Report from the Primary Care Trust in relation to dental services in 

York 

Page 89



Page 90

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 1 

 Dental Report Oct 2008 vers 1.00  
  

 
4 

1 

 

 

 
Report To:   York City Council OSC-17th December 2008 

 
Report From: Amanda Brown Assistant Director of Commissioning and 

Service Development 
     

Report Subject: Dental Services 
  
1. Introduction 
 

The OSC asked the PCT to provide a template of information which could 
be provided on a regular basis about the numbers of patients accessing 
NHS dental services and the length of time patients are on the dental 
access database before they are allocated to a dentist. 

 
 Templates of the available information are provided in this report with an 

explanation of what the information is. This is provided to assist the 
Committee in reaching a decision about what information it would like to 
see more regularly. The information is derived from nationally negotiated 
dental contracts and in the case of the access database records which are 
kept by the PCT.   

 
The templates provide information on numbers of patients seen, additions 
and allocations from the access database and overall trend information 
since 2006. 
 

2. Numbers Of New Patients Seen  
 

Table 1: The number of new patients seen by NHS dentists in the York 
area during the in the previous 24 months by quarter commencing 1st April 
2008 
  

 

Patients seen in 24 
months Total 

Quarter ending March 
2008 89,536 
Quarter ending June 
2008 92,566 
Quarter ending 
September 2008 95,725 
Variance since March 
2008 6.9% 

 
Explanation: 
 
The Department of Health has set performance targets for each PCT on the 
number of new patients who have seen a dentist in the previous 2 years.  

Page 91



Annex 1 

 Dental Report Oct 2008 vers 1.00  
  

 
4 

2 

Targets are not set by localities within the PCT as patients can be seen by 
any dentist. 
 
This information relates to patients who have been seen and treated by a 
dentist based in York for the first time under NHS contract either for dental 
or orthodontic treatment during the previous 24 months where the dentist 
has submitted a claim for payment. This information is derived from 
information provided by the Dental Business Service to practices since April 
2008 and related to dental practices in the York area, the patients may 
reside outside York. 
 

3. Access  
 

Table 2: The numbers of patients assigned to a dentist from the database 
for the period 1 April – 30 November 2008  
 

  
Locality 
 

April - 
June 

July - 
Sept 

Oct  
 

Nov TOTAL 

Selby & 
York 

1,789 5,684 2,648 
 

737 10,858 

 
Table 3: The numbers of patients who have been added to the database for 
the period 1 April – 30 November 2008  

 
Locality 
 

April - 
June 

July - Sept Oct  
 

Nov Total 

Selby & 
York 

2,044 
 

2,368 1,317 
 

1,237 6,966 

 
 

Table 4: The number of patients on the database waiting to be assigned to 
a dentist waiting on the PCT Dental Waiting List by locality for period 1 April 
– 30 November 2008  

 
  

Locality 
 

April - 
June 

July - Sept Oct  
 

Nov 

Selby & 
York 

4759 
 

1443 112 
 

612 

 
Explanation-Table 4 indicates the number of patients on the data base 
when the count was undertaken 

 
 Table 5: The month in which the last allocation were made to NHS dentists 

 
Locality 
 

Month 

Selby & York November 2008 
 

 

Page 92



Annex 1 

 Dental Report Oct 2008 vers 1.00  
  

 
4 

3 

Explanation - Table 5 identifies the date when the last allocations were 
undertaken from the dental waiting list.  This does not include patients who 
have made a specific request for a dental practice.  All patients are advised 
that they may have a longer wait if a specific dentist is chosen.   
 
Patients can choose to see any NHS dentist and are not limited to those 
within a specific catchment area.   

 

4. Trend information since 2006 
 

The following charts put the information provided above in the context of 
activity undertaken by all NHS primary care dental services in North 
Yorkshire. The information is only available at County or locality level.  It 
may assist the OSC to understand the relative demand across the County. 
 
Chart 1 - Comparative Length Of Time On The Database  
 
This information was prepared in September and on 22nd October 2008.  
The two months illustrate that the database may change rapidly i.e. if 
additional dental capacity becomes available the list will reduce significantly 
and equally it may increase if the PCT runs a campaign to promote NHS 
dentistry and so on. If the OSC decide that they wish to see this information 
as part of a regular template the information service will be asked to 
produce the data to reflect the same time periods as used to report 
information from the access database. 

 

 The key to the bar chart is as follows: 
 

SY –Selby York locality  
CHARD –Craven and Harrogate locality 
HR – Hambleton and Richmondshire locality 
SWR – Scarborough Whitby Ryedale locality 

 

 Chart 1-September 2008 

Waiting time for patients assigned a dentist in September 2008

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

1 Month 1 to 2

Months

2 to 3

Months

3 to 4

Months

4 to 5

Months

5 to 6

Months

6 to 7

Months

Over 7

Months

SY CHRD - C CHRD - H HR SWR

 

 

 

Page 93



Annex 1 

 Dental Report Oct 2008 vers 1.00  
  

 
4 

4 

 

 

 

Chart 1 - October 2008 
 

Waiting times for patients still on the list as at 22 October 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1 Month 1 to 2

Months

2 to 3

Months

3 to 4

Months

4 to 5

Months

5 to 6

Months

6 to 7

Months

Over 7

Months

SY CHRD - C CHRD - H HR SWR

 

 

Chart 2 - Comparative trend on the numbers of North Yorkshire patients 
added to the data base and assigned to a dentist April to September 2008 
 
This chart shows how the numbers of patients on the database fluctuates 
according to demand and capacity over the course of the year. 
 

Patients Added/

Assigned to Dental Waiting List

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

April May June July August September

Added Assigned

 

 

Chart 3 –  Median Time In Months On The Data Base Prior To Allocation 
 

This chart shows how long patients on the database at a point in time (22th 
October 2008) had waited on the data base for allocation to an NHS dentist. 
 

The key to the chart is: 
 

SY –Selby York locality  

Page 94



Annex 1 

 Dental Report Oct 2008 vers 1.00  
  

 
4 

5 

CHARD –Craven and Harrogate locality 
HR – Hambleton and Richmondshire locality 
SWR – Scarborough Whitby Ryedale locality 

 
A small number of patients may already be “registered” with a dentist but choose 
to be on the database while waiting to see if a practice they prefer has capacity. 
  

Median Waiting Time (months) as at 22 October

0.5

1.5 1.5

0.7 0.7

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1

1.2

1.4

1.6

SY CHRD - C CHRD - H HR SWR

 

 

5. Next Steps  
 

This information has been produced to provide an example of the 
information templates which could be made available to the OSC.  
 
The data is not published and has been put together from reports that the 
PCT receives to try and indicate how NHS dentistry is provided in the York 
area. It is not possible to provide information for York residents. Where data 
has been provided on a quarterly rather than monthly basis this is because 
this is how the PCT receives it. 
 
The PCT is dependent on the activity data being made available to it by 
other organisations and the OSC should be aware that the PCT has no 
control over when it will be decided to publish the information. The data on 
activity is derived from contract information and it is usual for there to be a 
time delay of at least 2 months before the dental business service are 
confident that they have the majority of claims submitted by practices and 
publish the data. 
 
The OSC are asked to confirm whether the information provided in the 
tables and charts will meet their needs should the PCT is able to provide 
the information in the tables and charts on a more consistent basis.  Some 
variation to the information may be possible and the PCT would be happy 
to try and improve on it within the constraints already outlined above.  

 

Page 95



Page 96

This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

   

 

Health Scrutiny Committee 5th January 2009 

 

Feasibility Report – Access to Outreach Workers 

Summary 
 

1. This report asks Members to consider a scrutiny topic registered by Councillor 
Alexander to scrutinise the availability, funding and uniform distribution of access 
to outreach workers (a different entity to a befriending service). A copy of the 
topic registration form is attached at Annex A to this report. 

 

Criteria 
 

2. Councillor Alexander believes that this topic fits with the following eligibility 
criteria as set out in the topic registration form: 

 

• Public Interest (i.e. in terms of both proposals being in the public interest 
and resident perceptions) 

• In keeping with Corporate Priorities [We want services to be provided by 
whoever can best meet the needs of our customers] 

• National/local regional significance e.g. a central Government priority 
area, concerns joint working arrangements at a local ‘York’ or wider 
regional context. 

 

Background Information 

3. In his topic registration form, Councillor Alexander stated that many people in 
Holgate Ward rely on an outreach worker service from providers such as Age 
Concern. During the recent Dementia Review looked at by the Health Scrutiny 
Committee it became clear that this service was different from a befriending 
service. Outreach workers usually provided practical assistance and were paid; 
whereas the befriending service tended to concentrate on social visits and staff 
were normally volunteers. It also came to light that the outreach worker service 
was unequally available across the city (due to the way that Ward Committees 
allocated their individual budgets). In previous years Age Concern had bid for 
funding for the scheme but they had made the decision not to apply for funding 
for 2009/10. 

 
4. Members of the Health Scrutiny Committee had not felt that discussions on the 

future of the outreach service fitted with the agreed remit of the Dementia 
Review, as the service was much wider reaching and did not just affect those 
suffering from dementia. It was therefore decided not to include a 

Agenda Item 6Page 97



recommendation on this subject; but it was suggested that it could be a topic in 
its own right should anyone wish to submit it. 

 

Consultation  

5. Councillor Sue Galloway, the portfolio holder for Housing and Adult Social 
Services (HASS) made the following comments: 

 
‘Outreach workers are also employed in the NHS so I think we need to be clear 
exactly what is being proposed.  My understanding is that it is the narrow remit of 
ward funded support workers that is being put forward as a topic.’ 
 
‘On the assumption that Councillor Alexander is referring to the former Ward 
Committee scheme due to end in 2009, this was not a scheme aimed specifically 
for dementia sufferers but was aimed at promoting independence amongst 
elderly people to counter social isolation and was first started in Westfield Ward 
as a result of a Health Needs Assessment in 2001. It was a Ward Committee 
funded scheme, which could be cut if residents did not vote for the service. The 
scheme was provided by Age Concern who, earlier this year, decided not to bid 
for the scheme for the forthcoming year 2009/10. In so far as Westfield Ward 
was concerned, Councillors had already expressed their concerns about people 
moving through the scheme and it was difficult to know the outcomes for this 
service.’ 
 
‘In HASS there is a home support team and a promoting independence team 
which, subject to eligibility criteria, would meet the needs of people who used to 
access the previous Ward funded schemes. The option would be open for 
Councillor Alexander to either fund a Ward Committee scheme through Ward 
budgets or to make a growth bid in the forthcoming budget.’ 

6. Councillor Ann Reid, the portfolio holder for Neighbourhood Services made the 
following comment: 

 
‘As far as Neighborhood Services are concerned if these kinds of schemes are 
funded by Ward Committees then it is purely based on residents’ votes. If people 
feel that a good scheme has been proposed then they will vote for it. We 
certainly can't divert Ward Committee funds to a citywide scheme as this would 
fly in the face of the long established principles of Ward Committee budgets.’ 

7. The Head of Neighbourhood Management and Business Support has made the 
following comments: 

 
‘ Ward Committees have funded Community Support Outreach Workers for a 

number of years.  This has been done through one provider (Age Concern), 
who has applied for grant provision from a number of wards. The level of 
support has expanded considerably since the first Ward was approached 
(Westfield).  In 2008/09 ten out of eighteen Ward Committees are providing 
funding. On an annual basis the level of funding provided via the Ward 
Committee had altered as have the actual Ward Committees making the 

Page 98



provision. This is logical, as the areas needing provision will have changed 
over time, as will the priorities of members of the public. 

 

The Ward Committee process for applying for grants has been approved via 
the Executive Member for Neighbourhood Services and Advisory Panel 
(EMAP), following a recent review of policy and practice (EMAP 19th March 
2008). The process was also called in via Scrutiny and reported back to 
Neighbourhood Services EMAP in April 2008.   
 

The review of the application process looked at the national practice as well as 
consultations with the voluntary and community sectors on the proposals, in 
line with the York Compact.  Part of the review was to strengthen the measures 
in place to ensure that the applicants are demonstrating local need and local 
(Ward based) delivery, thus meaning that blanket bids for funding across all 
Wards would not be accepted. This has now ensured that the Ward Committee 
process is more robust under the requirements of the Constitution and the 
financial regulations.   

 

Since the introduction of the new application process Age Concern has not 
applied for funding. They have written to all Ward Members to inform them of 
their decision.  In their letter they have stated that: 
 

" The level of funding has been unpredictable making it difficult to effectively 
resource the service...." 

 

The Ward Committee budget is present to deliver local services and 
improvements based on local need and priorities, voted for by the public.  
Providing a blanket service across the city is not something that would be 
provided via the Ward Committee setting.   

 

We have a transparent and open process that enables a level playing field for 
all applicants.  As a service we cannot force agencies and the third sector to 
apply for money.’ 
 

8. The Director of Housing and Adult Social Services has made the following 
comments: 

• Effective community support and supportive neighborhoods are key issues 
for the quality of life in the city and the ability of vulnerable people to live 
independent and fulfilling lives. 

• There is a major role for health, housing and social care to play in this but it 
is clearly about people's whole lives and therefore goes beyond HASS and 
into most other areas of council responsibility. 

• I think it is important to focus on the outcome of sustainable and supportive 
communities in which vulnerable people can live safely and independently 
rather than focusing on a specific service - in this case outreach workers 
from Age Concern. I'm not sure how a scrutiny process could deal with the 
specific issue and link in with the budget setting and the associated 
commissioning/procurement processes. 

• HASS are involved in discussions with a range of stakeholders, 
representative agencies & providers about commissioned services that would 

Page 99



support the broad outcome. This is largely within the context of the changing 
demographic profile of York and the implementation of the government's 
initiative "Putting People First". Other departments will be involved in 
complementary activities in terms of commissioning and partnership working 
but this is not co-coordinated in the council. 

• There is a delicate balance to be struck between local initiatives and having a 
consistent level of support in all parts of the city 

• Other agencies and partners are critical to this and so there is a role for the 
Local Strategic Partnership in shaping community support networks. 

• The initiative in Westfield ward could be useful in informing future options at 
a neighborhood level. 
 

My view would therefore be: 
 

• If this were to be put forward as a scrutiny topic it ought to be more broadly 
focused on the outcome (sustainable neighbourhoods for vulnerable people) 
rather than starting with the input (how are outreach workers funded). 

• This could be a potentially big piece of work involving staff from more than 
one department and would generate considerable interest from agencies 
outside the council who would want to provide evidence. I therefore doubt 
whether the topic could be concluded in 1-3 months. 

 
9. Councillor Alexander has suggested that the following persons and organisations 

be consulted during the course of the review: 

• Older Persons 

• People with disabilities that may wish to access this service or who have 
previously used this service 

• Carers 

• Adult Social Services (CYC) 

• Neighbourhood Services (CYC) 

• Age Concern & other relevant voluntary organisations 

• The public 
 

Analysis 
 
10. It should be noted from the comments above that it is not within a Local 

Authority’s remit to insist that third sector organisations apply for monies.  There 
had also previously been difficulties in collating the outcomes for the outreach 
worker service. Further problems regarding re-allocating Ward Committee funds 
to a citywide scheme would also need to be resolved and it was more than likely 
that this would be directly against the long established principles of Ward 
Committee budgets. 

 
11. It should also be noted that the processes for applying for grants had already 

been called in via the scrutiny function once before and had been reported back 
to Neighbourhood Services EMAP in April 2008.  Members should therefore 
consider whether re-scrutinising the subject could provide further insight. 

 

Page 100



Conduct of Review 

12. However, were this review to go ahead the Committee should look at how the 
service has worked in the past and look at the effect of such a service stopping. 
They should also investigate the possibility of replacing the service and indicate 
possible providers and funding sources. 

 
13. Councillor Alexander has suggested that this review should look at:  
 

• How the provision that has been provided in previous years could be 
maintained 

• How the service could be more equally distributed across the city 

• How the service can be funded 

• What providers are available to offer the service 

• What the Council obligations are regarding this service 
 
14. It is estimated that this review would take approximately one to three months to 

complete. 
 

Implications 
 
15. Financial - There is a small amount of funding available within the scrutiny 

budget to carry out reviews. There are no other known financial implications 
associated with this report however; implications may arise should the review be 
progressed. 

 
16. Human Resources (HR) - There are no known HR implications associated with 

this report. 

17. Legal – There are no direct legal implications associated with this particular 
report however; legal implications associated with this topic may emerge if the 
topic progresses. 

18. Other – There are no known equalities, property, crime and disorder or other 
implications associated with the recommendations within this report. 

Risk Management 
 
19.In compliance with the Council’s risk management strategy, there are no known 

risks associated with the recommendations in this report. 

 
Recommendation 

 
20. Based on the evidence presented within this report Members are not advised to 

proceed with this review. However, if this were to be put forward as a scrutiny 
topic it ought to be more broadly focused on the outcome (sustainable 
neighborhoods for vulnerable people) rather than starting with the input (how are 
outreach workers funded) and a revised topic registration form would need to be 
submitted. 

Page 101



 
Reason: On the basis that the voluntary sector agencies are not obliged to apply 
for funding and that the Ward Committee process for applying for grants had 
been called in via the scrutiny function before in April 2008, there was therefore, 
little to be gained from scrutinising the same subject twice. 

 

Contact Details 
Author: Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 

 
Quentin Baker  
Head of Civic, Legal & Democratic Services 
Tel:  
01904 551004 

Tracy Wallis 
Scrutiny Officer 
Scrutiny Services 
Tel: 01904 551714 

Feasibility Study 
Approved � Date 18.12.2008 

Specialist Implications Officer(s)   
None 

Wards Affected:  All � 

 
For further information please contact the author of the report 

 

Background Papers: 
 

None 
 
Annexes 
 
Annex A Topic Registration Form   

Page 102



Annex A 

  
  

Scrutiny Topic Registration Form 

Fields marked with an asterisk * are required. 

* Proposed topic: 
  

City of York Council scrutinises the availability, funding and 
uniform distribution of access to outreach workers (a different 
entity to a befriending service).  

* Councillor 
registering the topic 

  
Councillor James Alexander 

Submitted due to an 
unresolved 'Cllr Call 
for Action' enquiry 

   

 
Please complete this section as thoroughly as you can. The information provided will 
help Scrutiny Officers and Scrutiny Members to assess the following key elements to the 
success of any scrutiny review: 
How a review should best be undertaken given the subject 
Who needs to be involved 
What should be looked at 
By when it should be achieved; and  
Why we are doing it ?  

Please describe how the proposed topic fits with 3 of the eligibility criteria attached. 

 Yes? 
Policy 

Development 
& Review 

Service 
Improvement 

& Delivery 

Accountability of 
Executive 
Decisions 

Public Interest (ie. in terms of 
both proposals being in the 
public interest and resident 
perceptions) 

    

Under Performance / Service 
Dissatisfaction     

In keeping with corporate 
priorities [We want services to be 
provided by whoever can best 
meet the needs of our 
customers.] 

    

Level of Risk     

Service Efficiency     

 
 
 
National/local/regional 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 103



Annex A 

significance e.g. A central 
government priority area, 
concerns joint working 
arrangements at a local 'York' or 
wider regional context  

* Set out briefly the purpose of any scrutiny review of your proposed topic. What 
do you think it should achieve? 

Many people in Holgate ward rely on an outreach worker service from providers such as 
Age Concern. During the recent dementia review looked at by Health Scrutiny 
Committee it became clear that this service is different from a befriending service and 
the outreach worker service was unequally available across the city (due to the way 
individual Ward Committees allocated their funding) and that this outreach worker 
service will cease in March 2009.  

The review should: -Look at how to maintain the provision that has occurred over 
previous years -Indicate how this service can be more equally distributed across the city 
-Indicate how this service will be funded -List what providers are available -Make clear 
council obligations regarding this service  

* Please explain briefly what you think any scrutiny review of your proposed topic 
should cover. 

-Look at how to maintain the provision that has occurred over previous years -Indicate 
how this service can be more equally distributed across the city -Indicate how this 
service will be funded -List what providers are available -Make clear council obligations 
regarding this service  

* Please indicate which other Councils, partners or external services could, in 
your opinion, participate in the review, saying why. 

Older people, Older People’s Champion (CYC), those with disabilities, carers, those who 
use or have used the outreach worker service, Adult Social Services (CYC), 
Neighbourhood Services (CYC), the general public, Voluntary Organisations:  e.g. Age 
Concern, Older People’s Assembly. 

The above people can provide information on how the service has been run and funded 
in the past, their experiences of the service and what value it can give. They can also 
provide information on what kind of service and funding would be needed in the future. 

* Explain briefly how, in your opinion, such a review might be most efficiently 
undertaken? 

It is my impression that this should be looked at by an existing scrutiny committee. The 
members should clearly make the distinction between a befriending and outreach 
service. Members should look at how this service has worked in the past; look at the 
effect of such a service stopping. Investigate possible replacement services and indicate 
possible providers and funding.  

Estimate the   1-3 months 

Page 104



Annex A 

timescale for 
completion. 
 

3-6 months 

6-9 months 

Support documents or other useful information   None 

 

Date submitted: Friday, 28th November, 2008, 12.27 pm 

Submitted by: Councillor James Alexander 

Page 105



Page 106

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

 

   

 

Health Scrutiny Committee 5th January 2009 

 
Report of the Head of Civic, Democratic & Legal Services 

 

Health Scrutiny Networking 

Summary 

1. This report is to inform Members of the Committee about recent events 
attended by both Members and Officers outside of the formal meeting cycle of 
the Health Scrutiny Committee.  

 Background 

2. Both Members and Officers attend events on a regular basis and in the past 
these have not been reported back to the Committee. Many of these events 
are directly linked with some of the work set out in the Committee’s work plan.  

Consultation  

3. The following paragraphs detail the events and meetings that have taken 
place. 

4. Members’ Visit to York Hospital (13.10.2008) 

Mike Proctor, the Deputy Chief Executive at York Hospital facilitated a tour of 
several areas of the Hospital for the benefit of Members of the Health Scrutiny 
Committee. 

5. Scrutinising Health Inequalities (07.11.2008) 

Cllr Morley attended this event organised by Minding the Gap in association with 
the Regional Health Scrutiny Network for Yorkshire & the Humber, with the 
support of the Centre for Public Scrutiny. The event covered the following topics:  

• Why is effective scrutiny of health inequalities important? 

• What are the challenges and how have they been tackled? 

• What does effective scrutiny of health inequalities look like? 
 
Councillor Morley made the following comment about the event: 

 
‘I attended a day in Leeds on Scrutinising Health Inequalities on 7th November 
2008. The event was attended by Members and officers involved in Health 
Scrutiny. The attendance list is itself a reminder of the variety of different ways in 

Agenda Item 7Page 107



 

which Health Scrutiny is organised i.e. on its own, in association with Adult 
Social Services and “Social Care”. This was the theme of the day too. Research 
findings on how scrutiny works were presented, an overview of the regional 
experience from Geoff Ainsley and workshops on particular examples of 
practice. Scrutiny of Community Development in Health and Wellbeing in Leeds 
looked at projects promoting health through community projects (often well 
funded), a mini-scrutiny model from Doncaster where concentration on a small 
community with comparatively poor health outcomes was initiated/preceded by a 
pre-review set of questions for scrutiny members drawing on experience of local 
members and young peoples’ mental health from Sheffield. Geoff touched on 
some topics that hadn’t been looked at in the region –e.g. accidents, and 
suggested the value of some joint working (particularly on stretched health 
scrutiny budgets).’ 
 

6. LINKs Facilitated Workshop (17.11.2008) 

Both the Chair of Health Scrutiny Committee and the Head of Democratic 
Services attended this meeting.  
 
In April 2008, a new NHS patients and public involvement organisation, LINKs 
(Local Involvement Networks), came into being, replacing the former patient 
and public forums. Working with the Council’s Strategic Partnerships team, 
Health Scrutiny held a facilitated workshop on the 17th November, with health 
partners, the Council’s Adult Social Services, the LINKs host, North Bank 
Forum, and the recently appointed LINKs co-ordinator. The theme of the 
workshop was to clarify the respective roles and responsibilities of LINKs and 
Health Scrutiny and to forge effective relationships with NHS and social care 
commissioners and providers. Mike Grady, an Expert Adviser from the Centre 
of Public Scrutiny, facilitated the workshop. 

 
A number of issues were identified during the course of the workshop, 
including: 

 

• The need to co-ordinate the work programmes of the local authority 
Health Scrutiny Committee (OSC) and LINKs 

• The need to avoid needless duplication of effort and to maximise the use 
of each others limited resources 

• How any referrals from LINKs to Health Scrutiny might be handled 

• How LINKs and the OSC could complement each others work 

• How LINKs and the OSC can contribute and influence the PCT’s strategic 
commissioning objectives 

 
Further follow-up work is intended early in the New Year. 

 
7. CFPS training day on the Darzi Report (10.12.2008) 

The Centre for Public Scrutiny had offered some free training to Health 
Scrutiny Committees across the country. It was the decision of the York 
Scrutiny Committee to ask for training on the Darzi Report and on world class 
commissioning. The session helped those that attended to understand the 

Page 108



 

context, the content and the implications of the Darzi report and the 
implications for their work in scrutinising health and social care in the future.  

The training session also included information on world class commissioning. It 
is hoped that world class commissioning will deliver a more strategic and long-
term approach to commissioning services, with a clear focus on delivering 
improved health outcomes. There are four key elements to the programme; a 
vision for world class commissioning, a set of world class commissioning 
competencies, an assurance system and a support and development 
framework. 

A copy of the Darzi Report and further information on world class 
commissioning can be found on the Department of Health website: 
 

www.dh.gov.uk 

 

Options  

 

8. This report is for information only. 

Analysis 
 

9. Members and Officers who undertake work in relation to Health Scrutiny attend 
many events outside of the Committee’s formal meeting cycle. This report has 
been prepared for the purposes of transparency and information sharing.     

Corporate Strategy  

10. This relates to the following Corporate Value: 

 ‘Encouraging improvement in everything we do’. 

Implications 

11. There are no known Financial, Human Resources, Equalities, Legal, Crime 
and Disorder, Information Technology, Property or other implications 
associated with this report. 

Risk Management 
 

12. This report is for information only and there are no known risks associated with 
it. 

Recommendations 

13. Members are requested to: 

i. Note the report 
 

 

Page 109



 

Reason: To keep Members informed of events attended that are relevant to 
Health Scrutiny. 

 

Contact Details 

 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 
Quentin Baker 
Head of Civic, Democratic & Legal Services 
01904 551004 
 

Tracy Wallis 
Scrutiny Officer 
Scrutiny Services 
01904 551714 

Report Approved � Date 18.12.2008 

 

Specialist Implications Officer(s)   
 
None 

 

Wards Affected:  List wards or tick box to indicate all All � 

 
For further information please contact the author of the report 

 

Background Papers: 
 

None 
 
Annexes 
 
None   

Page 110



 
Health Scrutiny Committee Work Plan 2008/09 

 
 

Work Area Tasks Timeframe Responsible Officer 
LINks • Participate in training and events in connection with the 

development of the LINk in conjunction with Host (North 
Bank Forum) 

• Receive regular updates from Trusts 
• Report back with a detailed working relationship between 

LINks, NBF & the Health Scrutiny Committee 

Ongoing 
 
 
Ongoing 
February 2009 

Nigel Burchell / Scrutiny 
Officer (as appropriate) 

Dental Provision In 
York 

• Receive regular update from PCT Ongoing (next 
report – January 
2009) 

Scrutiny Officer together 
with appropriate persons 
from the PCT. 

Annual Healthcheck • Begin preparations for 2008/09 Annual Health Check 
• Further update on the Annual Health Check & preparation 

of the draft commentaries to submit to the various Trusts 

January 2009 
February /March 
2009 

Scrutiny Officer 

Dementia Review • To receive an update from the PCT, York Hospital & 
Ambulance Trust regarding the implementation of the 
Scrutiny Review recommendations. 

Date to be 
confirmed 

Scrutiny Officer in 
conjunction with the three 
Trusts 

Feasibility Reports • To prepare feasibility reports for new topics submitted for 
review 

As and when 
required 

Scrutiny Officer 

General • Health Scrutiny Networking Update January 2009 Scrutiny Officer 

 
A

g
e
n

d
a
 A

n
n
e
x

P
a
g
e
 1

1
1



P
a
g

e
 1

1
2

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k


	Agenda
	
	1 Declarations of Interest
	2 Minutes
	4 Annual Health Check 2008/2009
	Annex A - The annual health check 2008_09_Assessing and rating the NHS
	Annex B - Annual_health_check_timetable_200811180517[1]

	5 Update on Dental Services
	Annex 1 - PCT Report To York OSC

	6 Feasibility Report - Access to Outreach Workers
	Annex A - Topic Registration Form

	7 Health Scrutiny Networking
	

